
Democratic Services Contact Officer: Ian Senior 01954 713000 democratic.services@scambs.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

20 February 2023 

 

To: Chair – Councillor Stephen Drew 
 Vice-Chair – Councillor Graham Cone 
 Members of the Scrutiny and Overview Committee – Councillors 

Anna Bradnam, Tom Bygott, Libby Earle, Sue Ellington, Peter Fane, 
Sally Ann Hart, James Hobro, Helene Leeming, Judith Rippeth, 
Richard Stobart and Dr. Aidan Van de Weyer 

Quorum: 4 
 

Substitutes: Councillors Heather Williams, Dr. Richard Williams, Bunty Waters, 
Mark Howell, Lina Nieto, Annika Osborne, Paul Bearpark, Carla Hofman, 
Dr Lisa Redrup and William Jackson-Wood 

 
 

 
There is a pre-meeting session at 5pm the day before the meeting, for members 

of the Committee only, to plan their lines of enquiry. 
 

 
Dear Councillor 
 
You are invited to attend the next meeting of Scrutiny and Overview Committee, 
which will be held in the Council Chamber - South Cambs Hall on Tuesday, 28 
February 2023 at 5.20 p.m. 
 
Members are respectfully reminded that when substituting on committees, 
subcommittees, and outside or joint bodies, Democratic Services must be advised of 
the substitution in advance of the meeting.  It is not possible to accept a substitute 
once the meeting has started.  Council Standing Order 4.3 refers. 
 
Yours faithfully 
Liz Watts 
Chief Executive 
 

The Council is committed to improving, for all members of the 
community, access to its agendas and minutes.  If you have any 

specific needs, please let us know, and we will do what we can to 
help you. 

 

 

Agenda 
Pages 

1. Chair's announcements    

 

 

South Cambridgeshire Hall 

Cambourne Business Park 

Cambourne 

Cambridge 

CB23 6EA 

t: 01954 713000 

f: 01954 713149 

www.scambs.gov.uk 



 

2. Apologies for absence    
 To receive apologies for absence from committee members.   
   
3. Declarations of Interest    
 

4. Minutes of Previous Meetings   7 - 20 
 To authorise the Chair to sign, as correct records, the Minutes of the 

meetings held on 15 December 2022, 12 January 2023 and 19 January 
2023. 

 

   
5. Public Questions    
 If you would like to ask a question or make a statement, then please refer 

to the 
 
Document called Public Speaking Scheme (Physical Meetings) 
 
and contact the Scrutiny and Governance Adviser in Democratic Services 
by no later than 11.59pm on Wednesday 22 February 2023.. 

 

   
6. Investment Strategy   21 - 56 
 
7. 2022-23 Quarter Three Performance Report   57 - 70 
 
8. Further support for cost-of-living crisis for South Cambridgeshire 

residents  
 71 - 82 

 
9. Work Programme   83 - 96 
 

10. To Note the Date of the next meeting    
 28 March 2023 at 5.20pm  
   

 

  
 Exclusion of Press and Public 
 The law allows Councils to consider a limited range of issues in private session without 
members of the Press and public being present.  Typically, such issues relate to 
personal details, financial and business affairs, legal privilege and so on.  In every 
case, the public interest in excluding the Press and Public from the meeting room must 
outweigh the public interest in having the information disclosed to them.  The following 
statement will be proposed, seconded and voted upon.   
 
"I propose that the Press and public be excluded from the meeting during the 
consideration of the following item number(s) ….. in accordance with Section 100(A) 
(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 on the grounds that, if present, there would be 
disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in paragraph(s) ….. of Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Act.” 
 
If exempt (confidential) information has been provided as part of the agenda, the Press 
and public will not be able to view it.  There will be an explanation on the website 
however as to why the information is exempt.   

   

https://scambs.moderngov.co.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD3526&ID=3526&RPID=1258172798


 Notes to help those people visiting the South Cambridgeshire District Council offices 

 
While we try to make sure that you stay safe when visiting South Cambridgeshire Hall, you also have a 
responsibility for your own safety, and that of others. 
 
Security 

When attending meetings in non-public areas of the Council offices you must report to Reception, sign in, 
and at all times wear the Visitor badge issued.  Before leaving the building, please sign out and return the 
Visitor badge to Reception. 
Public seating in meeting rooms is limited. For further details contact Democratic Services on 03450 450 
500 or e-mail democratic.services@scambs.gov.uk 
 
Emergency and Evacuation 

In the event of a fire, a continuous alarm will sound.  Leave the building using the nearest escape route; 
from the Council Chamber or Mezzanine viewing gallery this would be via the staircase just outside the 
door.  Go to the assembly point at the far side of the staff car park opposite the staff  entrance 

 Do not use the lifts to leave the building.  If you are unable to use stairs by yourself, the 

emergency staircase landings have fire refuge areas, which give protection for a minimum of 1.5 
hours.  Press the alarm button and wait for help from Council fire wardens or the fire brigade. 

 Do not re-enter the building until the officer in charge or the fire brigade confirms that it is safe to 

do so. 
 
First Aid 

If you feel unwell or need first aid, please alert a member of staff. 
 
Access for People with Disabilities 

We are committed to improving, for all members of the community, access to our agendas and minutes. 
We try to take all circumstances into account but, if you have any specific needs, please let us know, and 
we will do what we can to help you.  All meeting rooms are accessible to wheelchair users.  There are 
disabled toilet facilities on each floor of the building.  Infra-red hearing assistance systems are available in 
the Council Chamber and viewing gallery. To use these, you must sit in sight of the infra-red transmitter 
and wear a ‘neck loop’, which can be used with a hearing aid switched to the ‘T’ position.  If your hearing 
aid does not have the ‘T’ position facility then earphones are also available and can be used 
independently. You can get both neck loops and earphones from Reception. 
 
Toilets 

Public toilets are available on each floor of the building next to the lifts. 
 
Recording of Business and Use of Mobile Phones 

We are open and transparent about how we make decisions. We allow recording, filming and photography 
at Council, Cabinet and other meetings, which members of the public can attend, so long as proceedings 
at the meeting are not disrupted.  We also allow the use of social media during meetings to bring Council 
issues to the attention of a wider audience.  To minimise disturbance to others attending the meeting, 
please switch your phone or other mobile device to silent / vibrate mode. 
 
Banners, Placards and similar items 

You are not allowed to bring into, or display at, any public meeting any banner, placard, poster or other 
similar item.  Failure to do so, will result in the Chairman suspending the meeting until such items are 
removed. 
 
Disturbance by Public 

If a member of the public interrupts proceedings at a meeting, the Chairman will warn the person 
concerned.  If they continue to interrupt, the Chairman will order their removal from the meeting room.  If 
there is a general disturbance in any part of the meeting room open to the public, the Chairman may call 
for that part to be cleared. The meeting will be suspended until order has been restored. 
 
Smoking 

Since 1 July 2008, South Cambridgeshire District Council has operated a Smoke Free Policy. No one is 
allowed to smoke at any time within the Council offices, or in the car park or other grounds forming part of 
those offices. 
 
Food and Drink 

Vending machines and a water dispenser are available on the ground floor near the lifts at the front of the 
building.  You are not allowed to bring food or drink into the meeting room. 

   
 Declarations of interest - Guidance for Councillors 

mailto:democratic.services@scambs.gov.uk


 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
As a Councillor, you are reminded of the requirements under the Council’s Code of 
Conduct to register interests and to disclose interests in a meeting. You should refer to 
the requirements set out in the Code of Conduct which are summarised in the notes at 
the end of this agenda frontsheet. 
Disclosable pecuniary interests  
A “disclosable pecuniary interest” is an interest of you or your partner (which means 
spouse or civil partner, a person with whom you are living as husband or wife, or a 
person with whom you are living as if you are civil partners) which falls within the 
categories in Table 1 of the code of conduct, which is set out in Part 5 of the 
Constitution.  
 
Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your disclosable 
pecuniary interests you must:  
 
disclose the interest; 
not participate in any discussion or vote on the matter; and 
must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation.  
 
If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest, just 
that you have an interest. Dispensation may be granted in limited circumstances, to 
enable you to participate and vote on a matter in which you have a disclosable 
pecuniary interest.   
 
It is a criminal offence to:  
 
fail to notify the monitoring officer of any disclosable pecuniary interest within 28 days 
of election 
fail to disclose a disclosable pecuniary interest at a meeting if it is not on the register 
fail to notify the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of a disclosable pecuniary interest 
that is not on the register that you have disclosed to a meeting  
participate in any discussion or vote on a matter in which you have a disclosable 
pecuniary interest 
knowingly or recklessly provide information that is false or misleading in notifying the 
Monitoring Officer of a disclosable pecuniary interest or in disclosing such interest to a 
meeting. 
 
Other registerable interests 
These are categories of interest which apply to the Councillor only (not to their partner) 
and which should be registered. Categories are listed in Table 2 of the code of 
conduct, which is set out in Part 5 of the Constitution.  Where a matter arises at a 
meeting which directly relates to the financial interest or wellbeing of one of your Other 
Registerable Interests, you must disclose the interest. You may speak on the matter 
only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at the meeting but otherwise 
must not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter; and must not remain in the 
room unless you have been granted a dispensation. 
 
If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest. 
Disclosure of non-registerable interests 
Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to your financial interest or 
well-being (and is not a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest set out in Table 1) or a financial 
interest or well-being of a relative or close associate, you must disclose the interest. 
You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to speak 
at the meeting. Otherwise you must not take part in any discussion or vote on the 
matter and must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation. 
 
If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest.  
 
Where a matter arises at a meeting which affects – a. your own financial interest or 
well-being; b. a financial interest or well-being of a relative or close associate; or c. a 

https://scambs.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s127329/Part%205.%20A.%20Members%20Code%20of%20Conduct.pdf
https://scambs.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s127329/Part%205.%20A.%20Members%20Code%20of%20Conduct.pdf
https://scambs.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s127329/Part%205.%20A.%20Members%20Code%20of%20Conduct.pdf
https://scambs.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s127329/Part%205.%20A.%20Members%20Code%20of%20Conduct.pdf


   
 



This page is left blank intentionally.



South Cambridgeshire District Council 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Scrutiny and Overview Committee held on 
Thursday, 15 December 2022 at 5.20 p.m. 

 
PRESENT:  Councillor Stephen Drew – Chair 
  Councillor Graham Cone – Vice-Chair 
 
Councillors: Anna Bradnam Tom Bygott 

 Libby Earle Peter Fane 

 James Hobro Dr John Loveluck 

 Richard Stobart Dr. Aidan Van de Weyer 

 
Officers in attendance for all or part of the meeting: 
 
 In the Council: Anne Ainsworth (Chief Operating Officer), Peter Maddock 

(Head of Finance), Ian Senior (Scrutiny and Governance Adviser) 
 
Virtually: Peter Campbell (Head of Housing), Bode Esan (Head of Climate, 
Environment & Waste), Stephen Kelly (Joint Director of Planning and 
Economic Development) and Rory McKenna (Monitoring Officer) 

 
Councillor John Williams (Lead Cabinet Member for Resources) was in attendance, by 
invitation. 
 
Councillors Helene Leeming (Committee member), Sunita Hansraj and Cllr Heather 
Williams (substitute) were in attendance remotely. 
 
1. Chair's announcements 
 
 The Chair made several brief housekeeping announcements. 

  
2. Apologies for absence 
 
 Councillors Sue Ellington, Sally Ann Hart, and Judith Rippeth sent apologies as 

Committee members. Councillor Heather Williams attended remotely as substitute for 
Councillor Ellington, 
 
Apologies were also received from Councillors Bill Handley (Lead Cabinet Member for 
Communities) and Bridget Smith (Leader of the Council). 

  
3. Declarations of Interest 
 
 Councillor Richard Stobart declared an interest as a Director of both the South 

Cambridgeshire Investment Partnership and South Cambridgeshire Project. 

  
4. Minutes of Previous Meeting 
 
 The Committee authorised the Chair to sign, as a correct record, the minutes of the 

meeting held on 15 November 2022 subject as follows 
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



Scrutiny and Overview Committee Thursday, 15 December 2022 

1. To add Councillor John Williams (Lead Cabinet Member for Resources) as 
having been present in the Chamber. 
 

2. Minute 6 (2022-23 Quarter Two Performance Report) 
 

Replace the paragraph 
 

“KPIs PN510 to PN512 related to Development Management. Councillor Peter Fane said 
that a differentiation should be made between those planning applications determined 
within the period set by statutory targets and those determined within a timescale set by 
an Extension of Time Agreement. Councillor Fane asked that the percentage of appeals 
against major planning permission refusals allowed should specify the proportion allowed 
in respect of appeals against non-determination. The Committee noted that the number of 
Extension of Time Agreements and refusals made in order to meet determination targets 
was unrelated to the time taken to validate applications.” 
 
with the following expanded text 
 

“KPIs PN510 to PN512 related to Development Management. 
Councillor Peter Fane said that a differentiation should be made 
between those planning applications determined within the period set 
by statutory targets and those determined within a timescale set by an 
Extension of Time Agreement. Councillor Fane asked that the 
percentage of appeals against major planning permission refusals allowed should 
specify the proportion allowed in respect of appeals against non-determination. 
The Committee noted that the number of Extension of Time Agreements and 
refusals made in order to meet determination targets was unrelated to the time 
taken to validate applications. 

 
In response, the Joint Director of Planning and Economic Development said that 
only a small number of appeals were against non-determination, and this would not 
affect the standards being measured. He offered to provide clarity in writing. 

 
While he was unsure how many small applications had been determined within 
statutory timescale, he confirmed that average time was now recorded for 
applications. Members noted a chart showing the number of days taken to 
determine current applications compared with lower and upper quartile 
performance. A reduction in the backlog of applications had resulted in a 
progressive reduction in determination timescales for all applications. Further 
analysis would show those applications falling outside the timescale. The Joint 
Director of Planning and Economic Development undertook to give further details 
at the next Scrutiny and Overview Committee meeting. 

 
Councillor Heather Williams said that for some time now there had been 
concerns about the extent to which the Greater Cambridge Shared Planning 
Service relied on extensions of time agreements. to which the response had 
been that a system would be put in place. The Chair undertook to pursue 
this matter with the Lead Cabinet Member for Planning and the Joint 
Director of Planning and Economic Development. 
 
The Committee noted that the number of Extension of Time Agreements 
and refusals made in order to meet determination targets was unrelated to 
the time taken to validate applications.  

Page 8



Scrutiny and Overview Committee Thursday, 15 December 2022 

 
The Joint Director of Planning and Economic Development informed 
Members that KPI PN519 (Average time to determine validated 
householder planning applications) should be Amber not Green.” 

 
The Chair invited the Joint Director of Planning and Economic Development to make a 
short statement. That statement  
 

 clarified the number of applications determined within an extended time limit 
agreed with applicants 

 confirmed that the previously reported backlog in validating householder 
planning applications had been eliminated 

 
The Joint Director of Planning and Economic Development undertook to provide a full 
written statement of the above to all members of the Scrutiny and Overview Committee. 
This would also include an analysis of appeals against the non-determination of planning 
applications. 

  
5. Public Questions 
 
 There were no public questions or statements. 

  
6. General Fund Medium Term Financial Strategy 
 
 The Scrutiny and Overview Committee considered a draft Cabinet report updating the 

Medium Term Financial Strategy to the financial year 2027-2028 and the medium term 
financial plan following the outcome of a mid-year review of financial forecasts. Members 
noted that some of the assumptions used in the report might need adjusting as the budget 
developed and further information became available, such as through the provisional 
2023-2024 Local Government Finance Settlement. However, the Head of Finance assured 
Councillor Anna Bradnam that he was confident that the assumption that the Council 
would borrow at 5% was robust. 
 
In response to Councillor Graham Cone, the Head of Finance confirmed that the Council 
had significant funds invested upon which it could draw at short notice. 
 
Councillor James Hobro asked about the ability of the assumptions made to deal with the 
anticipated volatility in inflation and interest rates during the next two years. The Head of 
Finance acknowledged the degree of uncertainty involved in predicting future events but 
said that the scenarios set out in the report reflected the circumstances thought most likely 
by officers. 
 
Councillor Richard Stobart asked how various risks faced by the Council related to the 
scenarios set out in the report, and at what stage those scenarios would be triggered. In 
reply, Councillor John Williams assured the Committee that the situation was under 
constant review and that he was notified straightaway about any issues causing concern. 
The Head of Finance added that the corporate Risk Register considered every six months 
by the Audit & Corporate Governance Committee included those risks referred to by 
Councillor Stobart. The Head of Finance explained that the making of savings was the 
best way to address the challenge posed by the Fair Funding Review, which represented 
the biggest risk to South Cambridgeshire District Council. When further savings could not 
realistically be made then the Council would need to focus on income generation instead. 
 

Page 9



Scrutiny and Overview Committee Thursday, 15 December 2022 

For Councillor Tom Bygott, it was important to understand the implications for this Council 
of forthcoming changes to the allocation of retained Business Rates. Following an 
explanation of the possible outcome of these changes, Councillor John Williams 
concluded that upper-tier Authorities such as Cambridgeshire County Council would 
benefit at the expense of district councils. Councillor John Williams assured the 
Committee that the diversity of Council investments and the adoption of new working 
practices were helping to protect the Council against potential future uncertainty about 
funding, which included changes to the way in which the Public Works Loan Board 
operated. The Head of Finance said that South Cambridgeshire District Council was in a 
remarkably strong position financially. 
 
Appreciating that the MTFS was subject to change prior to a final version being 
considered by Full Council in February 2023, Members discussed what role the Scrutiny 
and Overview Committee m8ght play in managing any risk posed by financial volatility 
during the next two months. The Chair said it would be a matter of judgment as to whether 
circumstances should trigger a further review by the Scrutiny and Overview Committee. 
 
Following further discussion, and subject to comments made during this meeting, the 
Scrutiny and Overview Committee noted and endorsed the draft recommendation that 
Cabinet 

 
(a) acknowledges the projected changes in service spending and the overall 

resources available to the Council over the medium term to 2027-2028; and 
 

(b) recommends to Full Council the updated Medium Term Financial Strategy 
once the 2023-2024 budget is complete and the settlement finalised. 

  
7. Work Programme 
 
 The Scrutiny and Overview Committee noted its work programme attached to the agenda. 

 
As Chair of the Young People Task & Finish Group, Councillor Richard Stobart updated 
the Committee on the Group’s work. 

  
8. To Note the Date of the next meeting 
 
 The Scrutiny and Overview Committee noted that its next meeting had been moved from 

Tuesday 10 January 2023 to Thursday 12 January 2023 starting at 5.20pm. 

  

  
The Meeting ended at 6.50 p.m. 

 

 

Page 10



South Cambridgeshire District Council 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Scrutiny and Overview Committee held on 
Thursday, 12 January 2023 at 5.20 p.m. 

 
PRESENT:  Councillor Stephen Drew – Chair 
  Councillor Graham Cone – Vice-Chair 
 
Councillors: Anna Bradnam Tom Bygott 

 Sue Ellington Sally Ann Hart 

 Helene Leeming Judith Rippeth 

 Richard Stobart Dr. Aidan Van de Weyer 

 
Officers in attendance for all or part of the meeting: 
 
 In the Council Chamber: Aaron Clarke (Democratic Services Technical 

Officer), Jonathan Dixon (Planning Policy Manager), Caroline Hunt (Strategy 
and Economy Manager), Stephen Kelly (Joint Director of Planning and 
Economic Development), Stuart Morris (Principal Planning Policy Officer), 
Ian Senior (Scrutiny and Governance Adviser), Liz Watts (Chief Executive) 
 
Remotely: Rory McKenna (Monitoring Officer) and Jeff Membery (Head of 
Transformation, HR and Corporate Services) 

 
Climate and Environment Advisory Committee (CEAC) members in the Council 
Chamber: Councillors Paul Bearpark, Ariel Cahn, Dr. Martin Cahn, Geoff Harvey, 
Pippa Heylings, Dr Lisa Redrup, Peter Sandford,  
 
Cabinet members in the Council Chamber: Councillors Henry Batchelor (Lead Cabinet 
Member for Environment), Peter McDonald (Lead Cabinet Member for Economic 
Development) and Bridget Smith (Leader of the Council) were in attendance, by invitation. 
 
In attendance remotely: Councillors Peter Fane and Dr James Hobro (Scrutiny and 
Overview Committee members), Dr Richard Williams, Bunty Waters (CEAC), Bill Handley 
(Lead Cabinet Member for Communities) and Brian Milnes (Deputy Leader) 
 
1. Chair's announcements 
 
 The Chair made several brief housekeeping announcements. 

  
2. The late Councillor John Loveluck 
 
 Councillor Stephen Drew (Chair of the Scrutiny and Overview Committee) and Councillor 

Pippa Heylings (Chair of the Climate and Environment Advisory Committee) paid tribute to 
the late Councillor John Loveluck (one of the Members for the Cottenham ward) who had 
been a member of both committees. 

  
3. Apologies for absence 
 
 Councillor Libby Earle sent apologies. 

Page 11



Scrutiny and Overview Committee Thursday, 12 January 2023 

  
4. Declarations of Interest 
 
 Councillor Richard Stobart declared an interest as a Director of both the South 

Cambridgeshire Investment Partnership and South Cambridgeshire Project. 
 
Councillor Heather Williams declared an interest as a member of the Greater Cambridge 
Partnership Joint Assembly. 

  
5. Minutes of Previous Meeting 
 
 The minutes of the meeting held on 15 December 2022 would be presented to the 

Scrutiny and Overview Committee meeting on 28 February 2023. 

  
6. Public Questions 
 
 Jennie Conroy asked the following question 

“The GCP [Greater Cambridge Partnership] Integrated Water Management 
Study informing the Development Strategy Spatial Options Report Nov 2020 
identified that in the case of water supply, over-abstraction of the chalk 
aquifer is having a detrimental impact on environmental conditions, 
particularly during dry years and that even without any growth, significant 
environmental improvements are unlikely to be achievable until major new 
water supply infrastructure is operational (5.2.25). 

Given that AW do not anticipate even their interim measure of transporting 
water into the region much before 2030 how then can the existing 
commitments in the Local Plan to 2031 be fulfilled ahead of any further 
plans for development amongst the key strategic sites identified to take 
forward in the Development Strategy Update?” 

and supplementary question 

“Given the sustainable transport initiatives underway led by GCP and the 
recent announcement in the government’s autumn statement confirming 
East West Rail, would it not be prudent at this time to include the extension 
of Cambourne as one of the key strategic sites forming the ‘central building 
blocks’ of any future strategy for development as identified in the 
Development Strategy Update and at least quantify the potential allocation 
of housing numbers that have yet to be specified?” 

Councillor Dr. Tumi Hawkins (Lead Cabinet Member for Planning) was on 
extended leave of absence. In her place, Councillor Henry Batchelor (Lead 
Cabinet Member for Environment) gave the following answer to the first question 

“Water Resources East and Cambridge Water are planning a range of measures 
that address both water supply and demand to seek to achieve abstraction 
reductions to protect the environment whist also accommodating development 
needs. We are engaging with the water companies and the Environment Agency 
as consultees in relation to planning for committed development. Planning 

Page 12



Scrutiny and Overview Committee Thursday, 12 January 2023 

permissions that have been granted will continue to be implemented and we have 
been advised that the demand from these permissions is factored into the 
emerging water resources management plan of Cambridge Water being 
considered by the EA and DEFRA at the present time prior to publication. We 
expect to consider that plan further once it has been published for consultation.  

 
In terms of the Greater Cambridge Local Plan and the report on this agenda, we 
will not confirm a full strategy, including reconfirming delivery timings for existing 
commitments, until such a point as we have clarity on water supply, as set out in 
the Development Strategy Update at paragraph 3.11: “Further detail on the 
quantum of water supply and how that relates to housing and non-domestic growth 
will be provided in the Water Company WRMPs. These were due to be published 
around the same time as the Regional Plan but have been delayed. Until such time 
as they are published and we are able to analyse the detailed proposals it is not 
clear how water supply will compare with current commitments, the First Proposals 
growth levels, or the new increased needs for jobs and homes.”  

 
To the supplementary question, Councillor Henry Batchelor responded thus: 
 

“North East Cambridge, Cambridge East and Cambridge Biomedical Campus are 
confirmed as central building blocks’ of any future strategy for development 
drawing on their unique features: the Development Strategy Update identifies 
North East Cambridge and Cambridge East as the first and second most 
sustainable locations for strategic scale development available within Greater 
Cambridge; Cambridge Biomedical Campus is an important location for the City, of 
national and international importance for health, life-sciences and biotechnology. 
The Strategy topic paper supporting the Development Strategy Update at para 
2.71 identifies that there are no other strategic sites available for development in 
these broad spatial locations.  

 
Noting the uncertainties set out in the Development Strategy Update including in 
relation to water supply, the Councils have not ruled any other sites, including 
Cambourne, either in or out of the strategy at this point. The Development Strategy 
Update is clear at 4.4 that the Councils will “define … appropriate housing and 
employment targets, having regard to all material factors including water supply 
and housing delivery” and, as may be appropriate, “will identify further sites beyond 
North East Cambridge, Cambridge East and Cambridge Biomedical Campus if 
needed to meet our identified targets… [and will] reach a view on the sites included 
in the First Proposals as a first step. East West Rail company have also not yet 
confirmed a clear alignment for the railway, and location for the proposed station at 
Cambourne. The Council does expect to renew its engagement with E-W rail 
during 2023 to understand these potential parameters, as well as delivery 
timescales and the potential role that the railway might play in the future spatial 
strategy.” 

 
Daniel Fulton (Fews Lane Consortium) had been expected to make a statement but was 
not present either in person or by video link. 

  
7. Greater Cambridge Local Plan: Development Strategy Update (Regulation 18 

Preferred Options) 
 
 The Scrutiny and Overview Committee reviewed a report recommending that Cabinet 

confirms selected elements of the Greater Cambridge Local Plan development strategy 
via a Development Strategy Update (Regulation 18 Preferred Options) as set out in 

Page 13

https://scambs.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s129808/App.B-GCLP%20Strategy%20Topic%20Paper%20Update%20Jan%202023.pdf


Scrutiny and Overview Committee Thursday, 12 January 2023 

Appendix A to that report, namely 
 

 Updated needs for jobs and homes 

 Exploring provision of employment and housing – what is deliverable and 
how we will determine what is appropriate in terms of environmental, social 
and economic impacts – in particular water supply 

 Confirming our development strategy 

 Confirming key strategic sites 

 Development strategy next steps 
 
The Scrutiny and Overview Committee Chair specifically invited members of the Climate 
and Environment Advisory Committee (CEAC) to this meeting.  
 
On the subject of water, Scrutiny and Overview Committee members expressed concern 
about the challenge of water supply and consequent impacts on the chalk aquifer. They 
discussed the issues set out in the Development Strategy Update regarding the 
sequencing and timing of development in relation to water infrastructure, and the 
connected issue of realistic rates of housing delivery in the period following provision of 
water supply infrastructure. 

 
Also in relation to water, CEAC members emphasised the importance of the two Councils’ 
(South Cambridgeshire District Council and Cambridge City Council) independent water 
cycle study exploring all relevant issues in full. They expressed a desire to use all policy 
levers possible to influence high water efficiency, and carbon, standards in new 
development. They called on central government to support accelerated delivery of water 
supply infrastructure. 

 
A concern raised was that South Cambridgeshire District Council and Cambridge City 
Council might be obliged by water constraints to refuse preferred strategic-scale sites 
while not having the ability to refuse smaller scale development. Dispersal of development 
to villages would be unacceptable and Councillor Bridget Smith (Leader of the Council) 
assured those present that South Cambridgeshire District Council was committed to the 
current spatial strategy. She added that water capacity would determine the extent to 
which such development could be permitted. 
 
With reference to jobs, those present discussed 
 

 the robustness of the employment forecasts in relation to the level of scrutiny 
officers had had regarding the assumptions made 

 specific queries about the forecasting model and methodology 

 the forecasts’ statistical bases 

 commuting patterns; and  

 comparison of the employment forecasts with those for other comparable locations 
such as Oxford. 

 
Comments from Scrutiny and Overview Committee members included: 
 

 Concern regarding the impact of proposed national policy changes on the 
appropriateness of identifying updated needs at this point 

 Question regarding what could be done to encourage the mid-tech sector in 
Greater Cambridge. Officers confirmed that this was an issue being explored 
through the plan 

 

Page 14



Scrutiny and Overview Committee Thursday, 12 January 2023 

Scrutiny and Overview Committee members then considered the development strategy. 
They said that South Cambridgeshire District Council and Cambridge City Council should 
seek reassurance that, in considering sustainability impacts to identify a development 
strategy, the environment would be given priority in relation to the three elements of 
economic, environmental, and social - each of which was dependent on water resources. 

 
They added that consideration was needed of the likely implications of not delivering 
enough homes to support the expected increase in the number of local jobs. 

 
Members noted central Government’s use of the phrase ‘gentle density’, in relation to its 
proposed revision of national planning policy, and Councillor Tom Bygott asked officers to 
provide a written explanation of what that phrase might mean in reality. 

 
Members explored the rationale for considering whether exceptional circumstances 
existed for releasing Green Belt at land south of the Cambridge Biomedical Campus, and 
the potential benefits of providing a better range of uses on the site. There was a desire 
that a new Cambridge Biomedical Campus Masterplan be prepared to improve amenity 
and effective functioning of the site.  
 
Speaking as Chair of the Climate and Environment Committee, Councillor Pippa Heylings 
supported the climate-focused development strategy principles set out in the First 
Proposals, and sought confirmation that South Cambridgeshire District Council and 
Cambridge City Council would follow such principles when considering additional sites, 
rather than the housing delivery study’s conclusions that a change towards a more 
dispersed spatial strategy could support higher annual housing delivery rates if that was 
the councils’ priority, which she said would be unacceptable from a climate perspective. 
She said that CEAC would like to be involved in confirming the definition of unacceptable 
environmental harm referenced at paragraph 3.13 of the Development Strategy Update. 
 
Other comments made at the meeting included: 

 
 Concern about the risks to South Cambridgeshire District Council’s 5-year housing 

land supply of identifying a high objectively-assessed need that may not be 
deliverable. Discussion followed regarding the proposal to manage this risk 
through the production of a stepped housing target as set out at 3.20 of the 
Development Strategy Update. 

 Anxiety about the balance of development between South Cambridgeshire and 
Cambridge and support for engaging with other neighbouring district councils 
about those districts potentially meeting some of Greater Cambridge’s identified 
development needs.  

 
On housing, discussion ensued about the desirability that infrastructure such as electricity, 
transport, healthcare, schools, green space, and community facilities (including Faith 
provision) be delivered ahead of or alongside market and policy-compliant affordable 
housing. 
 
Scrutiny and Overview Committee members emphasised the importance of 
 

 creating communities, not just jobs and housing 

 ensuring that healthcare facilities were placed close to where new housing would 
be built 

 minimising the impact of building new homes 

 providing for key workers 
 

Page 15



Scrutiny and Overview Committee Thursday, 12 January 2023 

CEAC members raised concerns about the impact of proposed national changes to 
infrastructure funding mechanisms on infrastructure and affordable housing delivery and 
about the ability of the South Cambridgeshire District Council and Cambridge City Council 
to support delivery of a diverse range of housing types in the current economic climate. In 
response to a specific concern raised by Councillor Geoff Harvey, Councillor Bridget Smith 
(Leader of the Council) said that the Cabinet would be considering the question of 
electricity capacity and battery storage. The Chief Executive would also write to OFGEM 
about those same issues. 
 
Having reviewed the draft Cabinet report and Appendix A, and subject to the comments 
made during the meeting, the Scrutiny and Overview Committee noted and supported by 
affirmation the submission of the Greater Cambridge Local Plan to Cabinet on 6 February 
2023. 

  
8. Standing Order no. 9 - Duration of meetings 
 
 During the course of Minute no. 7 (Greater Cambridge Local Plan) and in accordance with 

Standing Order no. 9, the Chair proposed, Councillor Anna Bradnam seconded, and the 
Committee agreed by affirmation that the meeting should continue beyond the four-hour 
mark. 

  
9. Work Programme 
 
 Members noted the work programme attached to the agenda. 

  
10. To Note the Date of the next meeting 
 
 Members noted that the next Scrutiny and Overview Committee meeting would be on 

Thursday 19 January 2023. 

  

  
The Meeting ended at 9.50 p.m. 

 

 

Page 16



South Cambridgeshire District Council 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Scrutiny and Overview Committee held on 
Thursday, 19 January 2023 at 5.20 p.m. 

 
PRESENT:  Councillor Stephen Drew – Chair 
  Councillor Graham Cone – Vice-Chair 
 
Councillors: Anna Bradnam Tom Bygott 

 Sue Ellington James Hobro 

 Helene Leeming Judith Rippeth 

 Richard Stobart Dr. Aidan Van de Weyer 

( 
Officers in attendance for all or part of the meeting: 
 
 In the Chamber: Anne Ainsworth (Chief Operating Officer), Farzana Ahmed 

(Chief Accountant), Peter Maddock (Head of Finance), Jonathan Malton 
(Cabinet Support Officer), Ian Senior (Scrutiny and Governance Adviser), 
Liz Watts (Chief Executive) 
 
Remotely: Philip Bird (Corporate Programme Manager), Peter Campbell 
(Head of Housing), Jon Hall (Commercial and Licensing Services Manager), 
Heather Jones (Strategic Lead 3C Building Standards), Stephen Kelly (Joint 
Director of Planning and Economic Development), Rory McKenna 
(Monitoring Officer) and Alex Snelling-Day (Policy, Climate and Environment 
Team Manager) 

 
Councillors Heather Williams (Leader of the Opposition), Brian Milnes (Deputy Leader) and 
John Williams (Lead Cabinet Member for Resources) were in attendance, by invitation. 
 
Councillors Henry Batchelor (Lead Cabinet Member for Environment), John Batchelor 
(Lead Cabinet Member for Housing), Bill Handley (Lead Cabinet Member for Communities) 
and Peter McDonald  (Lead Cabinet Member for Economic Development) were in 
attendance remotely, by invitation. 
 
1. Chair's announcements 
 
 The Chair made several brief housekeeping announcements. 

  
2. Apologies for absence 
 
 Councillors Libby Earle, Peter Fane and Sally Ann Hart (each a member of the Scrutiny 

and Overview Committee) sent apologies. 
 
Apologies were also received from Councillors Dr. Tumi Hawkins (Lead Cabinet Member 
for Planning) and Bridget Smith (Leader of the Council). 

  
3. Declarations of Interest 
 
 Councillor Richard Stobart declared an interest as a Director of both the South 

Cambridgeshire Investment Partnership LLP and South Cambridgeshire Projects LLP. 

Page 17



Scrutiny and Overview Committee Thursday, 19 January 2023 

  
4. Minutes of Previous Meeting 
 
 The minutes of the meeting held on 12 January 2023 would be presented to the Scrutiny 

and Overview Committee meeting on 28 February 2023. 

  
5. Public Questions 
 
 There were no public questions or statements. 

  
6. Business Plan Action Plan (2023-24 Revision) 
 
 The Scrutiny and Overview Committee reviewed the Business Plan Action Plan for 2023-

24 reflecting work that had been ongoing throughout 2022-23, the continuing evolution of 
Council priorities, and planned works coming forward from service areas.  
 
Councillor John Batchelor (Lead Cabinet Member for Housing) and the Head of Housing 
responded briefly to a request for some context to proposed measures such as new 
council homes to be built. Councillor Brian Milnes (Deputy Leader) undertook to seek the 
best way to incorporate a degree of context into the next version of the Business Plan. 
Related to the issue of context, Councillor Helene Leeming asked whether the aim of 
building 75 new council homes a year included homes for refugees or whether the recent 
grant for refugees would enable the Local Housing Authority to build homes for refugees 
above and beyond the planned annual target figure. The Head of Housing explained that 
the budget had been set prior to the grant for refugees being announced but that the 
situation would be clarified in the updated Business Plan. 
 
Members engaged in a wide-ranging discussion about energy efficiency. This included the 
ongoing installation of energy-saving measures in all Council properties and the provision 
of electric vehicle charging points throughout the district.  They supported an ambition, as 
a headline objective, encouraging residents to reduce total waste material generated (in 
addition to the residual waste reduction and increased recycling initiatives). Members 
asked officers to develop this objective looking at best practice elsewhere and considering 
realistic interventions for achieving behavioural change.    

 
Councillor Sue Ellington highlighted the risk to the viability of the mobile wardens scheme 
in South Cambridgeshire posed by significantly increased costs. Councillors Brian Milnes 
(Deputy Leader) and Bill Handley (Lead Cabinet Member for Communities) said they were 
already acting in this regard and would keep Councillor Ellington informed of progress. 

 
Councillor Helene Leeming requested that supporting fledgling High Streets in Cambourne 
and Northstowe be specifically included in the Business Plan alongside the ongoing 
programme to support established High Streets elsewhere in the district seeking to 
recover from the Covid 19 pandemic and cope with the cost-of-living crisis. 
 
In response to a comment, the Head of Transformation, HR, and Corporate Services gave 
an assurance that the telephone remained an essential element of the holistic approach to 
improving residents’ ability to communicate with the Council. 

 
The Chief Executive summarised how Key Performance Indicators and staff health and 
wellbeing surveys would be assessed and then independently reviewed before a decision 
was made about whether or not to proceed to the next phase. 
 

Page 18



Scrutiny and Overview Committee Thursday, 19 January 2023 

Following further discussion, and subject to the comments made during the meeting, the 
Scrutiny and Overview Committee noted and supported submission of the Business Plan 
to Cabinet on 6 February 2023. 

  
7 (a) Draft Budget 2023-24 
 
 The Scrutiny and Overview Committee reviewed the draft budget for 2023-24 alongside an 

updated probable outturn for 2022-23. 
 
Councillor Richard Stobart expressed concern about pressure surrounding Section 106 
income. In reply, Councillor John Williams (Lead Cabinet Member for Resources) 
attributed this in part to a slow down in the occupation of properties (a common Section 
106 trigger point) and the fact that Section 106 Agreements were largely related to major 
developments. The Joint Director of Planning and Economic Development summarised 
several measures adopted recently that had resulted in improved working practices and 
monitoring of Legal Agreements made under Section 106 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 and Planning Performance Agreements. 

 
Councillor John Williams assured Councillor Tom Bygott that the Council remained 
committed to the self-build concept notwithstanding that the current economic climate 
made viability an important factor. 
 
In response to Councillor Aidan Van de Weyer, the Joint Director of Planning and 
Economic Development explained how recharges worked with regard to the Greater 
Cambridge Shared Planning Service and 3C Building Control. 
 
Councillor Helene Leeming asked for clarity on how the Council could prepare for the Fair 
Funding Review expected in 2025-26. Councillor John Williams said that such review was 
likely to move central government grant money away from district councils towards county 
councils and unitary authorities. He added that South Cambridgeshire District Council 
would therefore be transfer any unused surpluses to its reserves in an effort to minimise 
the anticipated impact on the Medium-Term Financial Strategy. The Head of Finance 
assured the Committee that the Council’s finances looked to be stable during 2023-24 and 
2024-25. 
 
Members noted that the payback period in respect of the ‘greening of South Cambs Hall’ 
was likely to be shorter than envisaged because of increases in the cost of gas and 
electricity. 
 
Members discussed the issue of ambient noise and recognised the nature of evidence 
needed before the Council could investigate. 
 
Committee members supported the aim of developing an arts and culture policy and noted 
Councillor Heather Williams’ request that Section 106 monies received in respect of arts 
and culture, but not yet spent, should be retained. 

 
The Chief Executive explained that potential budgetary implications arising from the 
introduction of Voter I.D. should be negated by central Government covering the cost in 
full. 

 
Councillor Sue Ellington mentioned the challenges being faced by small villages in 
maintaining street lighting in the face of substantially increased costs. Councillor Brian 
Milnes (Deputy Leader) said he would discuss this at a later date with Councillor Ellington 
but mentioned that the Eastern Shires Purchasing Organisation (ESPO) was available with 

Page 19



Scrutiny and Overview Committee Thursday, 19 January 2023 

whom Parish Councils could jointly procure energy contracts.  
 
Following further discussion, and subject to the comments above, the Scrutiny and 
Overview Committee noted and supported submission of the Budget to Cabinet on 6 
February 2023. 

  
8. Conservative Group Budget Proposal for 2023-24 
 
 The Scrutiny and Overview Committee reviewed alternative budget proposals from the 

Conservative Group. 
 
Referring to the proposal to increase funding for fraud prevention and investigation in part 
by reducing publication of the South Cambs Magazine from four times a year to twice a 
year, Councillor Aiden Van de Weyer said that the South Cambs Magazine was an 
important way of disseminating information. In reply, Councillor Heather Williams (Leader 
of the Opposition) argued that greater impact could be achieved by focussing on schools 
and community centres in promoting fraud prevention. 

 
Discussion ensued about the proposal to freeze Council Tax. Councillor James Hobro said 
that such a measure represented a real-terms cut in revenue for the Council, which might 
impact on service provision. There was also a brief discussion about the need for 
additional resources for the Council’s Enforcement (Compliance) team. 
 
The Scrutiny and Overview Committee supported submission of the Conservative Group 
Budget Proposals for 2023-24 to Cabinet on 6 February 2023 and noted that the 
proposals would be formally moved at the meeting of Full Council on 21 February 2023. 

  
9. Work Programme 
 
 Members noted the work programme attached to the agenda. 

 
Councillor Richard Stobart, Chair of the Young People Task & Finish Group, briefly 
updated the Committee about the Group’s progress to date. 
 
The Chair reported that arrangements were being made for an all-Member briefing on 
Legal Agreements made under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

  
10. To Note the Date of the next meeting 
 
 Members noted that the next Scrutiny and Overview Committee meeting would be on 

Tuesday 28 February 2023 at 5.20pm. 

  

  
The Meeting ended at 8.50 p.m. 

 

 

Page 20



 
  

Report to: 
 

Scrutiny & Overview Committee              28 February 2023 

Lead Cabinet Member: 
 

Councillor John Williams (Lead Cabinet Member for 
Resources) 

Lead Officer: 
 

Peter Maddock, Head of Finance 
Anne Ainsworth, Chief Operating Officer  

 

 
 

Investment Strategy 

Executive Summary 

1. To undertake a review of the existing Investment Strategy in response to wider economic 
changes and to consider a refreshed version of the Strategy for consideration and adoption 
by the Council.  

Recommendations 

2. It is recommended that Members: 
 

a) Consider and comment on the report and the Investment Strategy attached at 
Appendix A and recommend it to Cabinet for approval, with any amendments as 
required. 

Reasons for Recommendations 

3. To establish and approve an updated Investment Strategy that complies with CIPFA’s 
revised Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (2017 edition) and 
Prudential Code Guidance Notes for Practitioners (2018 edition), CIPFA’s Treasury 
Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice and Cross-Sectoral Guidance 
Notes (2017 edition), revised Statutory Guidance on Local Government Investments 
(3rd Edition) issued in February 2018 and new rules on borrowing from the Public 
Works Loans Board effective from 26 November 2020.  

Details 

Statutory Guidance on Local Government Investments 
 
4. The Local Government Act 2003 (the Act) and supporting regulations requires the 

Council to ‘have regard to’ the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 
(CIPFA) Prudential Code, the CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice (the 
Code) and Investment Guidance (the Guidance) issued by The Ministry of Housing 
Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) in order to ensure that the Council’s 
capital investment plans are affordable, prudent and sustainable. 

 
5. The revised Statutory Guidance in relation to Local Government Investments, issued 

in February 2018, widened the definition of an investment to include all the financial 
assets of a local authority as well as other non-financial assets held primarily or partially 

 

Page 21

Agenda Item 6



to generate a profit. This wider definition includes investment property portfolios as well 
as loans made to wholly owned companies or associates, joint ventures or third parties. 
The Guidance applies for financial years commencing on or after 1 April 2018 and was 
reflected in the new Investment Strategy that was considered and approved by Cabinet 
at its meeting on 6 December 2021. 
 

6. Previous editions of the Guidance covered treasury investments only, but the current 
edition focuses on non-treasury investments including:  
 

 Loans made for service purposes e.g. to wholly owned companies, suppliers, 
local businesses, to support local public services and stimulate local economic 
growth; 
 

 Shares in companies bought for service purposes; 
 

 Debt Instruments (Loans) and Equity in subsidiaries; 
 

 Non-financial assets (e.g. property) held primarily or partially to generate profit. 
 
7. The Guidance requires the Strategy to be approved by Full Council on an annual basis 

and sets out the disclosure and reporting requirements. Any mid-year material changes 
to the Strategy must also be subject to Full Council approval. The Strategy should also 
be publicly available on the local authority’s website. 

 
8. In March 2020 the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) launched a consultation on the 

terms of its lending and proposed reform aimed at tackling perceived abuse of 
borrowing powers by some authorities. The consultation ended in July 2020 and a 
response was published immediately following the spending review by HM Treasury 
on 26 November 2020 along with guidance on the new borrowing terms. The 
implications of these new borrowing rules were outlined in the report to Council on 23 
February 2021 in respect of the annual review of the Treasury Management Strategy. 

 
Investment Strategy 
 
9. The Investment Strategy seeks to ensure compliance with the Government’s 

requirements, including the need for an Investment Strategy to include: 
 

 the contribution that investments make towards the service delivery objectives 
and/or place making role of the authority, recognising that each investment can 
make more than one type of contribution. This could include: 
 

 Yield/Profit; 
 Regeneration; 
 Economic benefit/business rates growth; 
 Responding to local market failure; 
 Treasury management; 

 

and, where the authority, classifies an investment as contributing to 
regeneration or local economic growth, it should be able to demonstrate that 
the investment forms part of a project in its Local Plan; 

 

 quantitative indicators that allow Councillors and the public to assess a local 
authority’s total risk exposure as a result of its investment decisions; 

 

Page 22



 how investments are funded and the rate of return and, where investment 
decisions are funded by borrowing, the indicators should reflect the additional 
debt servicing costs taken on; 
 

 indicators to assess the risks and opportunities of the investment; 
 

 the security of the investment as a paramount consideration to protect the 
capital sum invested from loss. Treasury management investments should 
consider security, liquidity and yield in that order of importance whilst other 
types of investment (such as property investments) should consider the balance 
between security, liquidity and yield based upon the risk appetite and the 
contribution the investment activity makes; 

 

 demonstration that total financial exposure to loans (e.g. to local enterprises, 
local charities, wholly owned companies and joint ventures as part of a wider 
strategy for local economic growth) is proportionate and formally setting out 
limits on the total level of loans;   

 

 for investment property, with a fair value above cost, the Strategy should include 
a statement that a fair value assessment has been made within the past twelve 
months, and that the underlying assets provide security for the capital 
investment;  
 

 for investment property, with a fair value below cost, the Strategy should detail 
of the mitigating actions that the local authority is taking or proposes to take to 
protect the capital invested;  

 

 how the authority has assessed the market that it is/will be competing in, the 
nature and level of competition, how it thinks that the market/customer needs 
will evolve over time, barriers to entry and exit and any ongoing investment 
requirements;  

 

 whether and, if so how, a local authority uses external advisors be they treasury 
management advisors, property investment advisors or any other relevant 
persons; and how it monitors and maintains the quality of advice provided by 
external advisers;  

 

 the sources of information used to assess and monitor risk; 
 

 for financial investments that are not treasury management investments or 
loans (e.g. equity investments) the Strategy should set out procedures for 
determining the maximum periods for which funds may prudently be committed; 
what those maximum periods are; and how the local authority will stay within its 
stated investment limits; 

 

 for non-financial investments (e.g. property) the Strategy should set out the 
procedures for ensuring that the funds can be accessed when they are needed, 
for example to repay capital borrowed, and the local authority’s view of the 
liquidity of the investments that it holds, recognising that assets can take a 
considerable period to sell in certain market conditions; 

 

 the extent to which funding expenditure to meet the service delivery objectives 
and/or place making role of the local authority is dependent on achieving the 
expected net profit from investments and the local authority’s contingency plans 
should it fail to achieve the expected net profit; 

 

Page 23



 the commitment not to borrow more than, or in advance of needs, purely in 
order to profit from the investment of the extra sums borrowed and, where the 
authority plans to borrow or has borrowed purely to profit from the investment 
of the extra sums borrowed, why the local authority has decided not to have 
regard to the Guidance and the local authority’s policies for investing the money 
borrowed, including management of the risks, for example, of not achieving the 
desired profit or borrowing costs increasing; 
 

 the steps taken to ensure that those elected members and statutory officers 
involved in the investments decision making process have appropriate capacity, 
skills and information to enable them to take informed decisions as to whether 
to enter into a specific investment, to assess individual assessments in the 
context of the strategic objectives and risk profile of the local authority and to 
enable them to understand how the quantum of these decisions have changed 
the overall risk exposure of the local authority; 

 

 the steps taken to ensure that those negotiating commercial deals are aware of 
the core principles of the prudential framework and of the regulatory regime 
within which local authorities operate; 

 

 the corporate governance arrangements that have been put in place to ensure 
accountability, responsibility and authority for decision making on investment 
activities within the context of the Council’s corporate values.  

 
10. The review has identified some updates to the Investment Strategy as follows: 

 

 The need to recognise the changing economic climate since the current version 
of the strategy was developed and adopted, and in particular the change in 
interest and borrowing rates. 
 

 Continue to give due regard to the rules in relation to local authority borrowing 
from the PWLB and, in particular, the impact of borrowing for the acquisition of 
commercial assets on the Council's wider borrowing requirements. 

 

 Recognise that investments may include smaller projects, if they have a 

regeneration or environmental impact.  
 

 A reduction from previous versions of this strategy with regard to the amount of 

money (£44m) it is proposed the Council consider for Investment opportunities. 

 

 A review of how these changes impact upon the indicators in line with the 

adopted 23/24 budget and Medium Term Financial Strategy 
 

 Update the capital programme values, recognising that this will be further 
reviewed. 

 

 The current position of the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) on investment 
properties to reflect the annual valuation of these properties. 

 

 To better reflect, given experience and market factors, the profile of investment 
between financial years. 
 

 To undertake the annual review and update of Prudential Indicators that are 
identified in the adopted Strategy (at Section 8 of Appendix A). 
 

Page 24



 Changes to reflect the time period of the updated Strategy and staff changes 
within the Council. 

 
11. An updated version of the Investment Strategy is attached at Appendix A which seeks 

to meet the requirements of the statutory investment guidance and effective 
governance arrangements.  

 
12. The Medium Term Financial strategy has recently been updated and reduced levels of 

investment income included as the level of investment now possible look rather less 
than that included in the strategy agreed in December 2021.   
 

Options 

13. The option of not reviewing the Investment Strategy is not considered to be appropriate. 
Local authorities are required to have regard to guidance issued in relation to 
investments and are accountable to their communities for the performance of them. 
Local politicians and officers operate within local governance frameworks of checks 
and balances to ensure that decision-making is lawful, informed by objective advice, 
transparent and consultative. Good governance means that proper arrangements are 
in place to ensure that intended objectives are achieved, and the security, liquidity and 
yield of investments are paramount commitments.  

 
14. The Council is required to obtain approval for the Investment Strategy each financial 

year and, where the Council proposed to make a material change to its Strategy during 
the year, a revised Strategy must be presented to Council for approval before the 
change is implemented.  

 

Implications 

 
15. In the writing of this report, taking into account financial, legal, staffing, risk, equality 

and diversity, climate change, and any other key issues, the following implications 
have been considered:- 

 
Policy 
 

16. The Investment Strategy has been developed to fulfil the requirements of the revised 
Statutory Investment Guidance, and provides the framework for:  
 

 governance of service loans, equity investments and commercial property 
investment; 

 assessing risk of providing loans, equity investments and investing in 
commercial property; 

 borrowing in advance of need; 

 income generating investment activities. 
 
Legal 
 

Page 25



17. The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) Regulations 2003 provides 
operational detail and specifically states that Authorities must have regard to CIPFA’s 
Prudential Code when setting and reviewing borrowing limits. Local Authorities must 
also have regard to the Investment Guidance issued by Secretary of State under 
section 15(1)(a) of the Local Government Act 2003. 
 

Financial     
 

18. The Investment Strategy sets out how the Council determines its capital investment 
priorities in particular in relation to corporate priorities taking into account the capital 
resources available including borrowing in line with the Council’s approved Prudential 
Indicators. There are no additional resource requirements as a result of the refreshed 
Investment Strategy, but it does provide the framework for determining investment 
priorities for the Council from allocated capital resources. 
 

19. The Investment Strategy currently identifies the sum of £44 million for Service and 
Commercial Investments as follows:  
 

Funding Allocation  

2023/24 

£m 

2024/25 

£m 

2025/26 

£m 

2026/27 

£m 

2027/28 

£m 

Investment Strategy 4 10 10 10 10 

 
 
20. A full review of the capital programme, including new scheme bids, was considered by 

Council on 21st February 2023. 
 
Risk 
 

21. The Investment Strategy is a key financial planning and resource management tool for 
the Council. An effective strategy for capital investment provides the framework for 
reducing the risk of approving schemes which:  
 

 are not affordable in either capital or ongoing revenue terms. 

 do not meet legal obligations or the Council’s key stated priorities. 
 

Environmental 
 

22. There are no environmental implications arising directly from the report. The 
environmental impacts of each capital investment opportunity will need to be 
considered as part of the feasibility assessments and evaluations. 
 
Equality Analysis 
 

23. In preparing this report, due consideration has been given to the District Council’s 
statutory Equality Duty to eliminate unlawful discrimination, advance equality of 
opportunity and foster good relations, as set out in Section 149(1) of the Equality Act 
2010. It is considered that the report has no relevance to South Cambridgeshire District 
Council’s statutory equality duty to eliminate unlawful discrimination, advance equality 
of opportunity and foster good relation.  
  

24. An equality analysis is not needed.  Individual capital investments may, however, have 
specific equality impacts that need to be considered and evaluated. 

 

Page 26



Alignment with Council Priority Areas 

25. This process does not change any of the overarching themes within the Council 
priority areas or Business plan but establishes the parameters for investments during 
the next financial year.  

Background Papers 

The following documents are relevant to this report: 
 

 Corporate Asset Plan – Report to Cabinet: 2nd October 2019 
 

 Investment Strategy – Report to Cabinet: 6th December 2021 
 

 Medium Term Financial Strategy – Report to Cabinet: 12th December 2022 

 

 Medium Term Financial Strategy – Report to Council: 21st February 2023 
 

 General Fund Budget Report – Report to Cabinet: 6th February 2023 
 

 General Fund Budget Report – Report to Council: 21st February 2023 
 

 HM Treasury Document entitled “Public Works Loan Board: future lending terms – 
Response to the consultation” issued on 25 November 2020. 

 

Appendices 

Appendix A: Investment Strategy – Revised March 2023 

Report Authors:  

Peter Maddock – Head of Finance 
e-mail: peter.maddock@scambs.gov.uk 
Telephone: (01954) 713072 
 
Anne Ainsworth – Chief Operating Officer 

e-mail: anne.ainsworth@scambs.gov.uk 
Telephone: (01954) 713430 

 
 
 

Page 27

mailto:peter.maddock@scambs.gov.uk
mailto:anne.ainsworth@scambs.gov.uk


This page is left blank intentionally.



 
 
 

 
 

Investment Strategy 

 
 
 

March 2023 
  

 

Page 29



 
1. Introduction 

 
The Local Government Act 2003 (the Act) and supporting regulations requires the Council to 
‘have regard to’ the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) 
Prudential Code, the CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice (the Code) and 
Investment Guidance (the Guidance) issued by The Ministry of Housing, Communities and 
Local Government (MHCLG) to ensure that the Council’s capital investment plans are 
affordable, prudent and sustainable. 
 
In February 2018 the Secretary of State issued new guidance on Local Government 
Investments (the Guidance), which widened the definition of an investment to include all the 
financial assets of a local authority as well as other non-financial assets held primarily or 
partially to generate a profit. This wider definition includes investment property portfolios as 
well as loans made to wholly owned companies or associates, joint ventures or third parties. 
The Guidance applies for financial years commencing on or after 1 April 2018. 
 
The Guidance requires the Investment Strategy to be approved by Full Council on an annual 
basis and sets out the disclosure and reporting requirements. Any mid-year material changes 
to the Strategy will also need to be subject to Full Council approval. 
 
Due regard has also been given to the prevailing rules in relation to local authority borrowing 
from the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) and, in particular, the impact of borrowing for the 
acquisition of commercial assets on the Council's wider borrowing requirements. Due regard 
has been given to the guidance published by HM Treasury on 25 November 2020 and, 
accordingly, the Council does not intend to buy commercial assets primarily for yield (even 
by using available reserves).  
 
The Council has set out within this Strategy its approach to risk and risk mitigation, including 
the requirement for fully tested and scrutinised business cases, sound due diligence 
indicators and the need for regular and formal reporting and the effective scrutiny of 
investment decisions and performance. 
 
This Strategy should be read alongside the Council’s Business Plan. This document reflects 
the Council’s ambition to support sustainable economic growth and local entrepreneurship; 
create employment opportunities during a very difficult and uncertain economic climate and 
contribute to the importance of creating strong and vibrant places across our district. 
 
 

2. The Investment Strategy 
 

2.1 South Cambridgeshire is located centrally in the East of England region at the junction of 
the M11/A14 roads and with direct rail access to London and to Stansted Airport. It is a 
largely rural district which surrounds the city of Cambridge and comprises over 100 villages 
and 2 small but growing towns (Cambourne and Northstowe). It is surrounded by a ring of 
market towns just beyond its borders, which are generally 10–15 miles from Cambridge. 
Together, Cambridge, South Cambridgeshire and the Market Towns form the Cambridge 
Sub-Region. South Cambridgeshire has long been a fast growing district and in 2022 had 
a population of 162,000 (bigger than Cambridge itself, and an increase of 15,000 since the 
2011 Census) and has become home to many of the clusters of high technology research 
and development in the Cambridge Sub-Region.  
 

2.2 The current macro-economic challenges facing the UK, coupled with changes in PWLB 
rules and government guidance on council investments mean that it is prudent to take a 

Page 30



different approach to Investments over the next 2-4 years than that previously adopted by 
the Council.  
 

2.3 While the Council will protect and enhance its existing investments (the income from which 
will continue to be used to support local services and support the financial position of the 
Council), the next 2-4 years will focus on the following categories of investments: 

 
i. Investment to support local public services by lending to or buying shares in other 

organisations (known as Service Investments), including the wholly owned 
housing development company, South Cambs Ltd (Trading as Ermine Street 
Housing) 
 
and 

 
ii. Investment to generate economic growth (known as Commercial Regeneration 

Investments) through: 
 

a. Providing facilities and infrastructure that will enable local business start-up 
and growth 
 

b. Supporting economic development and regeneration opportunities 
 

c. Opportunities which support the Sustainable Growth and the Environmental 
agenda 

 
d. Employment Zones 

 
e. Investment Partnerships 

 
f. Larger scale opportunities linked to growing and emerging sectors (though we 

expect these to be fewer in number given the current economic position) 
 

2.4 We want to ensure that the whole of South Cambridgeshire (not just the growing and 
new towns) become places that offer opportunities for new and developing businesses 
and take advantage of the continued expected growth in the Greater Cambridge region.  
 

2.5 Investments must deliver positive financial returns. 
 

2.6 Investments must comply with the Responsible Investment Policy, at Appendix 1. 
 

2.7 The Strategy relates only to the General Fund; The Housing Revenue Account will 
develop its own investment strategy relating to maintenance and acquisitions. 
 

2.8 The Council will continue to take independent advice on each proposed investment and 
ensure that its officers and members are engaged in continual professional development 
in relation to property investment activities by local authorities. 

 
Funding 
 
2.9 The Investment Strategy identifies the sum of up to £44 million between 1 April 2023 and 

31 March 2028 for Service and Commercial Regeneration Investments (as described 
above) and outlined in more detail at Section 7.  
 

2.10 The existing portfolio of investments comprises: 
 

Page 31



(a) A loan to Cambridge Ice Arena with a value of £2.4 million for a term of 25 years 
at a rate of 4.31%. The interest cost for the loan is based on a PWLB rate of 
2.56% plus a margin of 1.75%; 
 

(b) Loans to South Cambs Ltd, Trading as Ermine Street Housing (ESH), with a 
value of £94.62 million (as at March 2022) at a rate of 3.78% (reviewed 
annually). The Council earmarked a total investment of £100 million to Ermine 
Street in its capital programme to enable the supply of 500 private rented 
housing stock; loans are based on an opportunity cost of 1% plus a margin of 
2.78% (subject to review).  

 
Loans to ESH have to date been on the basis of interest only repayment; 
following a review by Savills Plc, this may be reviewed to consider some capital 
repayment.  
 

(c) An established commercial property estate that is managed in accordance with 
an approved Corporate Asset Plan. The following table provides details of the 
current categories of investment and purchase value:  

 
Table 1 

 

Category Value 
£000 

Offices 31,150 

Industrial 2,900 

Development Land 18,559 

Other 0 

TOTAL 52,609 

 

Security 
 
2.11 In accordance with government guidance, the Council considers a property investment 

to be secure if its accounting valuation is at or higher than its purchase cost including 
taxes and transaction costs. A fair value assessment of the Council’s investment 
property portfolio has been made within the past twelve months, and the underlying 
assets provide security for the capital investment. Should year end accounts 
preparation and audit processes value these properties below their purchase cost, 
then an updated Investment Strategy will be presented to Council detailing the impact 
of the loss on the security of investments and any revenue consequences arising 
therefrom. 

 
2.12 In relation to third party loans, the Council will ensure that the total exposure to loans 

remains proportionate to the size of the Council. The Council has significant control 
over ESH being its only shareholder. However, the risk that the borrower, ESH, will be 
unable to repay loans provided by the Council represents a significant risk. In order to 
limit this risk, and ensure that total exposure to loans remains proportionate, an upper 
limit on outstanding loans to ESH has been set at £100 million. This will be kept under 
review. Accounting standards require the Council to set aside a loss allowance for 
loans, reflecting the likelihood of non-payment. The figures for loans in the Council’s 
statement of accounts will, therefore, be shown net of this loss allowance. 

 
Financing the Strategy  
 
2.13 The Council will fund Service will fund Service and Commercial Investments 

(incorporating Regeneration Investments) by utilising the most appropriate and efficient 
funding strategy available at the time of investment. The Council has the option of 

Page 32



utilising prudential borrowing, capital receipts, and reserves and may consider other 
structures such as joint ventures. Financing decisions will link to the Council’s Medium 
Term Financial Strategy and Treasury Management Strategy.  
 

2.14 As a condition of accessing the PWLB, Local Authorities must submit a high-level 
description of their capital spending and financing plans for the following three years, 
including their expected use of the PWLB. As part of this, the Head of Finance will 
need to confirm that there is no intention to buy investment assets primarily for yield at 
any point in the next three years. This assessment is based on the Head of Finance’s 
professional interpretation of guidance issued. When applying for a new loan, the 
Local Authority must confirm that the plans they have submitted remain current and 
provide assurance that they do not intend to buy investment assets primarily for yield. 

 
2.15 The new borrowing rules, therefore, restrict the ability of local authorities to borrow 

from PWLB for pure investment in commercial property and the Council is aware that, 
if it intends to buy commercial assets primarily for yield (even by using reserves), then 
they will be prevented from taking any PWLB borrowing and will need to consider 
alternative sources of funding. The Council is not, therefore, permitted to reprofile the 
capital programme so that borrowing is only used on allowed projects, with internal 
borrowing used for commercial activities and will respect the guidance issued on 
investments. Accordingly, there is a presumption against primarily for yield 
investments, such as prime and close to prime commercial real estate investment. 

 
Risk 

 
2.16 The Council assesses the risk of loss before entering into and whilst holding property 

investments. The Council is engaged in the market through the proactive management 
of the investment portfolio, the asset valuation exercise and the economic growth 
activity and, through this, gaps/opportunities in the market are identified. Each asset is 
reviewed on an annual basis in order to review its performance, investment 
requirements and whether it should remain in the portfolio. The Council intends to 
develop a more detailed Acquisition and Disposal Strategy to sit alongside the 
Investment Strategy. 
 

2.17 The Council assesses the risk of loss before entering into loans with third parties. Loans 
to ESH will be provided on a commercial basis to comply with Subsidy Controls 
(previously State Aid Rules) taking into account the level of risk, with a clear schedule 
of repayment of interest and principal that enable ESH to deliver its Business Plan and 
meet the Council’s overall objectives. External advisors will be brought in as required 
to support Council officers in assessing the legal and financial risks of making loans.  

 
2.18 In relation to the commercial property estate, typical measures for monitoring individual 

assets and the portfolio as a whole are summarised in the table below: 
 

Outcome/Risk Potential Measure Benchmarks 

Individual 
acquisitions are 

achieving 
strategy 
objectives 

 Gross and Net Initial Yield 
measured against targets for the 
investments (stress tested by 
providing pessimistic as well as 
realistic scenarios) 

 Net Present Value and Internal 
Rate of Return Calculations to 
show longer term financial 
returns 

 Cumulative Year break-even 

 Industry 
benchmarks for 
type of investment 

 Other acquisitions 
in the portfolio 

 Overall portfolio 
and theme 
averages 

 Other Local 
Authorities 

Page 33



Acquisitions can 
be operationally 

managed 
effectively 

 Operating expenses as a 
proportion of gross effective 
income 

 Operating expenses and debt 
service costs as proportion of 
effective income 

 Established 
sector 
benchmarks 

Acquisitions and 
portfolio are 
appreciating in 
value 

 Asset by asset as well as 
portfolio measurement of asset 
valuation against price paid and 
outstanding debt (initial 
borrowing minus accumulated 
Minimum Revenue Provision) 

 Other acquisitions 
in the portfolio 

 Established 
sector 
benchmarks 

 Other Local 
Authorities 

The Investment 
Strategy income 
target is being 
met 

 Close and regular financial 
monitoring of average yield as 
well as growth of the portfolio 

 Actual v. Budget - 
variance 
explained by 
average yield and 
portfolio use 

 
 

2.19 The Council’s established commercial property estate (see Table 1 above) provides 
some degree of diversification, allowing a risk spread profile.  
 

2.20 The Council recognises, however, that there is a need to assess the continuing appeal 
of the Council’s existing property investments in the market. In some property 
investment classes this could be more significant than others, for example functional 
obsolescence in the industrial sector may have less impact on market appeal and rental 
growth than in the office sector. Economic obsolescence risk may be higher in markets 
which are more susceptible to social change and popular culture. 

 
2.21 The economic landscape has changed immensely in the last few years, initially as a 

result of the uncertainty over the withdrawal process from the European Union, and 
Coronavirus pandemic (COVID-19) and more recently the war in Ukraine and global 
economic picture. This has all led to a marked increase in uncertainty within the 
economic markets.  The Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) considers 
market impacts and publishes regular guidance on property valuations, with 
recommendations to reflect the uncertainty (such as the insertion of Market Uncertainty 
Clauses [MUCs] within property valuations). Due regard should be given to the 
guidance issued given the continuing uncertainty around the property sector. 

 
2.22 Asset investment advice is provided by retained agents and, where necessary, 

additional specialist advice is procured from suitably experienced external advisers. 
This will include the provision of pre-purchase reports and building surveys and other 
due diligence required to support the business case. The advice by the retained agents 
will include an assessment of the market and how it will evolve over time, the nature 
and level of competition and the impact that any asset acquisition or disposal could 
have on the projected income generated. The retained agent advice is monitored 
against the specification of requirements detailed in the invitation to tender and 
contract.  

 
Liquidity 
 
2.23 Compared with other investment types, property is relatively difficult to sell and convert 

to cash at short notice and can take a considerable period to sell in certain market 
conditions. The Council has no immediate plans or needs to sell any of the property 

Page 34



investment assets. However, lower yielding assets may be sold and replaced with 
higher yielding assets within manageable risk tolerances. 

 
2.24 Loan Commitments: Although not strictly counted as investments, since no money 

has exchanged, loan commitments and financial guarantees carry similar risks to the 
Council. The Council has no such loan commitments or financial guarantees. 

 

3 Proportionality 
 

3.1 In setting a balanced budget (as required by statute) the Council takes into account 
the contribution of income that is generated by its investment activity and, in doing 
this, it recognises that such investment activity meets wider economic and service 
objectives of the Council. The table below shows the extent to which expenditure 
planned to meet the service delivery objectives and/or place making role of the 
Authority is funded by the expected net income from investments over the lifecycle of 
the Medium Term Financial Strategy.  
 

 

 
3.2 An appropriate level of contingency within the General Fund Reserve is assessed 

annually as part of the outturn position each year. The Council also has a revenue 
contingency allocation of £350,000 to enable unforeseen and "one off" needs (i.e. 
having no long term ongoing revenue commitment) to be considered for funding 
during the financial year. These contingencies cover any net reduction in income 
sources, including rental income from investment properties, compared to the levels 
estimated. 
 
 

4 Borrowing in Advance of Need 
 

4.1 Government guidance is that local authorities must not borrow more than, or in 
advance of their needs, purely in order to profit from the investment of the extra sums 
borrowed.  
 

4.2 Where exceptionally the Council chooses to disregard the CIPFA Prudential Code 
and Government Guidance in respect of borrowing to fund investment activity, the 
rationale for this decision must be explained in the Strategy.  
 

4.3 The Council has noted and has had regard to the Guidance and has no plans to 
borrow in advance of need and is, therefore, compliant with the CIPFA Prudential 
Code in respect of this matter. The Council will only depart from it in exceptional 
cases, within the parameters set out in this Strategy, for the purposes of delivering 
Business Plan objectives and maintaining a robust financial position. In these 
exceptional cases, the reasons for so doing will be fully explained, together with the 
Council policies for investing the money borrowed, including management of the risks, 
for example, of not achieving the desired profit or borrowing costs increasing. 
 
 
 

Investment  
Net Rate of Return 

2023/2024 
Budget 

£000 

2024/2025 
Budget 

£000 

2025/2026 
Budget 

£000 

2026/2027 
Budget 

£000 

2027/2028 
Budget 

£000 

Net Revenue Stream  32,918 25,938 18,278 19,496 20,368 

Net Investment Income 7,003 7,598 7,960 8,321 8,721 

PROPORTION 21.3 29.3 43.5 42.7 42.8 

Page 35



5 Capacity, Skills and Use of External Advisors 
 

5.1 The Guidance requires that elected members and officers involved in the investment 
decision making process have appropriate capacity, skills and information to enable 
them to take informed decisions as to whether to enter into a specific investment. In 
addition, it places a duty on the Council to ensure that advisors negotiating deals on 
behalf of the Council are aware of the core principles of the prudential framework and 
the regulatory regime in which the Council operates. This will be achieved by ensuring 
an adequate and effective training programme, obtaining appropriate advice to inform 
the decision making process and by ensuring that procurement arrangements provide 
relevant information to potential advisers of the specific principles, regulations and 
governance relevant to the local authority sector.   
 

5.2 The Council will appoint specialist advisors to provide training to ensure that relevant 
Officers and Members have the required skills to make informed decisions and assess 
the associated risks. This training will take place before any investment decisions 
associated with the Strategy are considered and on a regular basis to ensure that 
Officers are engaged in continual professional development in relation to property 
investment activity and that Members, as decision makers, have the skills, knowledge 
and relevant information to effectively assist the decision making process. This will 
include training for new Members of the Council.  
 

5.3 The Council recognises that investing in land and property to achieve business 
objectives and to generate returns is a specialist and potentially complex area. The 
Council employs professionally qualified and experienced staff in senior positions with 
responsibility for making capital expenditure, borrowing and investment decisions. 
Where skills, or capacity are lacking, the Council will engage the services of 
professional property, legal and financial advisors, where appropriate, to access 
specialist skills and resources to inform the decision-making process associated with 
this Strategy. The Council measures the impact of investment decisions on borrowing 
and affordability through Investment Indicators to ensure that the overall risk exposure 
remains within acceptable levels. 
 
 

6 Governance Arrangements 
 

6.1 It is necessary to have a framework for determining investment decisions. 
 

6.2 A designated Investment Selection Team (IST) provides the setting for senior 
property, finance, service and legal professionals to share details of investment 
proposals ensuring that the core principle of the CIPFA Prudential Framework and the 
regulatory regime within which the Council operates are adhered to.  
 

6.3 The Investment Team has day to day oversight of asset management issues, and is 
responsible for reviewing the extent, condition and value of the Council’s corporate 
estate in line with the approved Corporate Asset Plan 2020-2024 and supporting 
Asset Management Plan which is continually monitored by IST. 
 

6.3 The IST will advise the Investment Governance Board (IGB) on potential purchases 
and development opportunities that meet the pre-determined selection criteria 
contained within the Investment Strategy. The IST will scrutinise investment 
opportunities, based on the selection criteria set out in this Strategy, will carry out all 
necessary due diligence and will present a full business case to the IGB for approval. 
The purpose of the IGB is to challenge and scrutinise investment opportunities 
identified by the IST, ensuring that only credible options are progressed. It also 

Page 36



provides the forum for the strategic management of the overall portfolio of 
investments, consistent with the aims of the Strategy. 
 

6.5 Investment decisions taken by Cabinet will be subject to the fulfilment of the minimum 
criteria set out within the Strategy, satisfaction with the business case and risk 
assessment, and will have regard to the recommendation of the IGB. Acquisitions and 
development opportunities that do not meet the minimum criteria set out within the 
Strategy may still be considered, where they would bring other compelling benefits to 
the District but would require Cabinet approval.  
 

6.6 Cabinet is required to approve investment in new capital schemes prior to any 
expenditure being incurred and Council approval will be required if additional, or the 
reprofiling of, funding is required. There may be occasions when an investment 
opportunity may be lost by the market need for speed; in these exceptional cases, 
decisions may be taken by the Leader after consultation with IGB and in accordance 
with the Access to Information Procedure Rules as set out in the Constitution and a 
full report will be prepared to inform the decision, fully outlining the opportunities and 
risks. The requirements relating to the giving of notice of the decision in the Forward 
Plan and for call-in of any decision shall apply unless the urgency procedures in the 
Council’s Constitution are required to be used for urgent investment decisions.  
 

6.7 To enable the timely and decisive decision making which is essential in this type of 
industry, to respond to opportunities as they arise, regular meetings of the IGB will be 
scheduled. The Council’s Scheme of Delegations provides the basis for enabling 
Officers to progress investment opportunities, including due diligence checks and the 
submission of non-binding offers in line with market practice. 

 
 

7 Service and Commercial Regeneration Investments 

 
7.1 Investments will either be within the District or the Travel to Work Area as shown in 

Appendix 2. 
 

7.2 The Investment Strategy identifies the sum of up to £44 million for Service and 
Commercial Regeneration Investments as follows:  
 

Funding Allocation  

2023/2024 

£’000 

2024/2025 

£’000 

2025/2026 

£’000 

2025/2026 

£’000 

2026/2027 

£’000 

Total Investment  4,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 

 
7.3 Investment relating to commercial premises will be directed towards the following 

types of investment: 
 

7.3.1  Service Investments  
 
This category of investment is to support local public services. The Council 
may lend money or acquire shareholding in subsidiaries, suppliers, local 
businesses, local charities, housing associations, local residents and its 
employees to support local public services and stimulate local economic 
growth. The main risk when making these investments is that the borrower will 
be unable to repay the principal and interest due. The Council will, therefore, 
assess the risk of loss before entering into and whilst holding such 
investments and mitigate this risk where practicable.  

Page 37



 
The Council has a wholly owned housing development company called 
Ermine Street Housing (ESH). The Council’s main objectives for creating the 
company is to provide good quality flexible rental housing and to meet housing 
needs and gaps in the housing by operating a commercial entity to manage 
both purchased and leased properties for the purpose of residential lettings. 
ESH acquire properties on the open market, borrowing at market interest rates 
via the Council, then lets the property at market rents to facilitate a reasonable 
pay back on the investment. ESH also brings the benefit of contributing to 
housing supply in the District with its implications for the economic and social 
well-being of residents and the local economy. The Council will provide capital 
loans to ESH on commercial terms to enable the company to deliver its 
objectives in line with an approved business plan.  
 

 

7.3.2  Commercial Regeneration Investments 
 

This category covers investment which can generate regeneration or 
economic development benefits as well as positive financial returns for the 
Council. Financial returns for the Council may come in the form of increased 
business rates income, New Homes Bonus where the investment is within the 
District and residential letting income from Build to Rent developments. The 
minimum target yield for commercial regeneration investments of this nature 
is 5%, excluding MRP and the cost of borrowing. Internal Rate of Return (IRR) 
may also be appropriate as a measure of an investment’s rate of return. 

 

The contributions from commercial regeneration investments will include 
positive financial returns for the Council, and may also include the following: 
 

 Assets that provide accommodation for essential businesses and 
services that are critical to the health of the local economy. 

 Investing in climate and environmental initiatives, including assets that 
can be developed to deliver green energy generation, in line with 
business plan objective of being “green to our core”, and investment in 
green energy bonds/funds in so far as they meet PWLB criteria. 

 Investing in Social Capital. 

 Redeveloping Council owned assets. 

 Building homes and commercial premises. 

 Development of Employment Zones 

 Using public land and buildings to achieve long-term socio-economic 
development within the District and wider Greater Cambridgeshire 
Area, as identified in the Local Plan and Appendix 2. 

 

To provide a longer-term perspective for commercial regeneration 
investments, the IRR may be an appropriate metric to assess the strength of 
an investment. The IRR is the interest rate at which the net present value of 
all cash flows arising from an investment is equal to zero. 
 

7.3.3  Commercial Regeneration Investments: Investment Partnerships 
 
The Council has two existing Investment Partnerships.  One with Hill Group 
and one with Balfour Beatty.  To date only one partnership (South 

Page 38



Cambridgeshire Investment Partnership) has produced a proposed scheme 
which is the subject of a live planning application.   
 
In the current economic climate and with the changes to the Public Works 
Loan Board, it is anticipated that future financially viable projects may be 
limited, particularly given that South Cambridgeshire District Council does not 
own any significant land holdings suitable for development. The Investment 
Partnerships were established for a period of 4 years, from 2020-2024, and 
remain delivery vehicles which can be used if appropriate opportunities do 
arise. 
 
The Investment partnerships can deliver new homes and regeneration 
opportunities that will include: 
 

 Acquisition of 3rd party land 

 Public sector and/or bank debt 

 Incorporation of grants and other funding 

 A sharing of risk and reward between partners 

 
By the nature of these investments, returns are likely to be in the form of capital 
receipts from the sale of a constructed asset, potentially developed in phases 
depending on the scale of the project. These capital receipts will be identified 
in the capital programme as financing for priority capital projects determined 
by the Council. Capital projects may relate to the range of services provided 
by the Council, or for investments in redevelopment and regeneration projects 
that contribute to Business Plan objectives and which may deliver positive 
financial returns for the Council. 
 

7.3.4 Further information about commercial investments (including Investment 
Partnerships), including the scope for investment, investment objectives, 
development methodology, green energy opportunities and risk management 
arrangements, is provided in Appendix 3, the expected business case 
coverage is identified in Appendix 4 and investment assessment criteria for 
commercial investments is shown in Appendix 5. 
 

 
8 Prudential Indicators  

 
8.1 The Guidance requires local authorities to develop quantitative indicators that allow 

Councillors and the public to assess a local authority’s total risk exposure as a result 
of commercial property investment decisions. 
 

8.2 Local Authorities are required to charge to their revenue account each year a 
Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) to make provision for the repayment of debt, as 
measured by the underlying need to borrow. The MRP should be prudent and, 
although it is for each authority to determine the amount, the published guidance by 
the Government is “local authorities should align the period over which they charge 
MRP to one that is commensurate with the period over which their capital expenditure 
provides benefits”. Provision has, therefore, been made for MRP in the performance 
indicators in line with the approved Capital and Treasury Management Strategies and 
based on the equal instalment method, amortising expenditure equally over the 
estimated useful life of the asset for which borrowing is required. The application of 

Page 39



MRP will be adjusted to reflect the annual valuation of Investment properties and will 
be determined on a property by property basis 
 

8.3 The approved Treasury Management Strategy does, however, confirm that where a 
loan is made to a wholly owned subsidiary of the Council, the loan is deemed to be 
secured on the assets of the company. Evidence of the ability to repay the loan will 
be based on the company’s business plan and asset valuation, and no MRP will be 
made. Exceptionally, where capital expenditure is part of a loan agreement to other 
than a wholly owned subsidiary – such as the loan to Cambridge Ice Arena – MRP 
will be applied in these cases. 
 

8.4 The indicators associated with the Council’s proposed Commercial Property 
Investment Strategy are detailed below. 
 

8.4.1 Debt to Net Service Expenditure (NSE) Ratio 
 

This indicator measures the gross debt (as cash or loan financing) associated 
with Commercial Investments and loans to third parties as a percentage of the 
Council’s net service expenditure, where net service expenditure is a proxy for 
the size and financial strength of a local authority. 

 

Estimate £’000 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 

Third Party Loans (a) 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 

Commercial Investments (b) 62,609 72,609 82,609 92,609 102,609 

Funding Allocation (a+b) 162,609 172,609 182,609 192,609 202,609 

Net Service Expenditure (c) 30,246 22,843 22,659 23,228 23,588 

Debt to NSE Ratio (a+b)/c 538% 756% 806% 829% 859% 

 

The indicator shows that the debt level proposed by the Strategy will be 
approximately 8 times the level of the Council’s net revenue budget if the 
proposed investment in the Strategy is funded solely from cash or loan 
financing. 
 

Given that the Strategy will take the risk profile of investments into account in 
the decision-making process and the Council sees property investments as a 
long-term investment, this ratio is considered reasonable.  
 

8.4.2 Net Commercial Income to NSE Ratio 
 

This indicator measures the Council’s dependence on the income from 
commercial property investments to deliver core services.  
 

The commercial income is the gross income from all investments made 
through the strategy less all operational costs. All income forecasts should 
allow for void periods where applicable. The table below identifies gross 
income: 
 

Estimate £’000 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 

Net Commercial Income (a) 7,003 7,598 7,960 8,321 8,721 

MRP (b) 1,329 1,154 919 1,019 982 

Net Income (after MRP) 

(a+b) 
5,672 6,444 7,041 7,302 7,739 

Net Service Expenditure (c) 30,246 22,843 22,659 23,228 23,588 

Page 40



Net Commercial income to 
NSE Ratio (a+b)/c 

18.7% 28.2% 31.1% 31.4% 32.8% 

 

The additional income generated from the investments set out within this 
Strategy will be equivalent to 31.1% of the Council’s Net Service Expenditure 
by 2025/2026.  
 

The ratio shows an increase over time and given the potential risk in respect 
of reliance on this income, effective measuring of progress will be undertaken 
against income targets, both in terms of portfolio yield and size. 
The indicator allows for MRP in accordance with the approved Treasury 
Management Strategy with the following allowance for each year:  
 

Estimate £’000 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 

Minimum Revenue Provision 1,329 1,154 919 1,019 982 

 
8.4.3 Investment Cover Ratio 

 
This indicator measures the total net income from property investments 
compared to interest expense: 
 

Estimate £’000 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 

Net Commercial income 7,003 7,598 7,960 8,321 8,721 

Interest cost 3,032 2,500 2,250 2,400 2,500 

Investment Cover Ratio 2.31 3.04 3.54 3.47 3.49 

 
The net investment cover ratio reduces throughout the medium term. This is 
because interest payable is growing at a faster rate that commercial income 
due to the externalisation of some debt.  
 
For commercial investments the rate of 4.75% is used in 2023/24 reducing to 
3.5% in 2025/26 reflecting expectations that interest rates will fall after peaking 
during the next financial year. The interest rates on loans to third parties are 
determined on a case by case basis.  The assumptions will be revised in future 
years as the size of the portfolio develops.  

 
8.4.4 Loan to Value (LTV) Ratio 

 

This indicator measures the amount of debt compared to the total asset value. 
In the period immediately after purchase it is normal for the directly attributable 
costs of purchasing commercial property investments to be greater than the 
realisable value of the asset (e.g. because of non-value adding costs such as 
stamp duty). Current market advice indicates that commercial property values 
are likely to be volatile for a while due to the effects of the pandemic and Brexit, 
however, borrowings will be repaid.  
 

Estimate £’000 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 

Funding Allocation 162,609 172,609 182,609 192,609 202,609 

Total asset values 188,900 222,700 257,100 292,900 328,000 

LTV   Ratio 1.02 1.03 1.05 1.06 1.07 

 

Page 41



Each year the Council will assess whether assets purchased via the Strategy 
retain sufficient value to provide security of investment using the fair value 
model in International Accounting Standard 40: Investment Property. If the fair 
value of assets is not sufficient to provide security for the capital investment 
the Strategy will provide detail of the mitigating actions that are being taken, 
or are proposed to be taken, to protect capital investment. The IST will also 
provide a liquidity assessment of the portfolio when undertaking the Fair Value 
assessment (see Section 2.7 of the Strategy). 
 

8.4.5 Target Income Returns (Yield) 
 

This indicator shows the target gross yield for each stream of investment 
activity and is a measure of the minimum expected return for the property 
investment portfolio. Green investments may deliver a lower return. 
 

Target income returns 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 

Service Investments 2.5% 2.5% 2.5% 2.5% 2.5% 

Commercial Investments 5% 5% 5% 5% 5% 

 

8.4.6 Gross and Net Income 
 

For this indicator, "Gross Income" means the revenues received in the form of 
commercial rents before the deduction of management costs and interest 
repayments. "Net Income" means the net income available, after the 
deduction of management costs. 

 

Estimate £’000 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 

Gross Income: 7,483 8,090 8,464 8,838 9,251 

Net Income 7,003 7,598 7,960 8,321 8,721 

 

The achievement of the target income required from the Investment Strategy 
will be closely monitored as part of the Council’s budget monitoring process. 
 

8.4.7 Operating Costs 
 

Estimate £’000 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2025/26 2026/27 

Operating Costs 480 492 504 517 530 

 

The above operating costs relate to the cost of acquiring and maintaining the 
investments made through the Strategy. The costs shown reflect the 
estimated cost of internal staff, external asset management and a budget for 
feasibility work to conduct due diligence prior to investment. 
 

8.4.8 Vacancy Levels and Tenant Exposures 
 

Estimate  2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 

Vacancy Levels 3% 3% 3% 3% 3% 

 

This indicator measures and sets a maximum threshold for the vacancy 
periods and tenant exposures within the property portfolio. 

Page 42



 

The target of 3% reflects the strong tenant covenant strengths that will be 
required under the commercial investment criteria. Void periods will be 
factored into the financial appraisals as part of the assessment criteria where 
relevant, therefore this indicator may be revised once investments are made. 
 
 

9 Overall Portfolio Management 

 
9.1 The Council have established a robust and very ambitious strategy for capital 

investment. The level of investment anticipated and the returns from that investment 
are significant and, as the strategy outlines, significant potential rewards come with 
equally significant risks. Closer performance management over and above the 
prudential indicators at Section 8 above and identified in the Capital Strategy will, 
therefore, be undertaken to help address potential fundamental risks such as: 
 

 The financial returns as set out in the strategy are difficult to achieve resulting 
in lower than budgeted investment and rental income. 

 Delays in investment, for any other reason, result in lower than budgeted 
investment and rental income; 

 Wider economic impacts depress the value of investments in the short-term 
reducing balance sheet health; 

 Access to borrowing is restricted by Government changes to PWLB lending 
rules. 

 
9.2 The additional monitoring of the Investment Strategy and its resulting impact on 

Balance Sheet health will comprise: 
 
9.2.1 The relationship between the Capital Financing Requirement, asset valuations 

and the Capital Adjustment Account and Revaluation Reserve as shown on 
the balance sheet, and 

 
 

  

Page 43



 

Appendix 1: Responsible Investment Policy 

 
1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 This Responsible Investment Policy details the approach that will be followed in 

fulfilling the Council’s commitment to integrate sustainable environmental policies 
across all areas of the Councils operations and activities. It also covers other 
responsible investment issues, which are set out below. 
 

1.2 The policy will be reviewed annually as part of the annual refresh of the Treasury 
Management Strategy before being approved by Cabinet and Full Council.  
 

2 PRINCIPLES 
 

2.1 Responsible Investment is an approach to investing that aims to incorporate 
environmental, social and governance (ESG) factors into investment decisions, to 
better manage risk and generate sustainable long-term return.  
 

2.2 The Principle for Responsible Investment (PRI) is the world’s leading advocate for 
responsible investment. The PRI enables investors to publicly demonstrate 
commitment to responsible investment with signatories committing to supporting the 
six principles for incorporating ESG issues into investment practice. 
 

2.3 The six principles are as follows: 
 

 We will incorporate ESG issues into investment analysis and decision-making 
processes. 

 We will be active owners and incorporate ESG issues into our ownership 
policies and practices. 

 We will seek appropriate disclosure on ESG issues by the entities in which we 
invest. 

 We will promote acceptance and implementation of the Principles within the 
investment industry. 

 We will work together to enhance our effectiveness in implementing the 
Principles. 

 We will each report on our activities and progress towards implementing the 
Principles. 

 
2.4 The principles are based on the notion that ESG issues, such as climate change, can 

affect the performance of investment portfolios and should, therefore, be considered 
alongside more traditional financial factors if investors are to properly fulfil their 
fiduciary duty. 
 

3 BELIEFS 
 

3.1 The Council takes a long-term approach to investing core balances and believes that 
businesses that are governed well and run in a sustainable way are more resilient, able 
to survive shocks and have the potential to provide improved financial returns for 
investors. ESG issues can have a material impact on the value of financial assets and 
on long-term performance of investments and, therefore, need to be considered in 
order to better manage risk and generate sustainable, long-term returns.  
 

Page 44



3.2 Well-managed organisations with strong governance are more likely to be successful 
long-term investments. 

  
4 POLICY OBJECTIVES 

 
4.1 As a long-term investor and asset owner the Council will, therefore, hold companies 

and asset managers to account regarding environmental, social and governance 
factors that have the potential to impact corporate value. The Council will incorporate 
ESG factors into investment analysis and decision-making, enabling long-term 
sustainable investment performance. 
 

4.2 As a shareholder, the Council has a responsibility for effective stewardship of the 
companies it invests in but also acknowledges that it has limited influence over 
individual companies being a small unit holder in a large fund pooled with many other 
institutional investors. Asset managers, who also take their stewardship role seriously, 
through dialogue and use of voting rights, are key influencers for more responsible 
corporate behaviour and long-term sustainability. The Council’s preference is, 
therefore, for active ownership of companies to rest with asset managers and for asset 
managers to engage with companies on behalf of the Council and other investors to 
improve the environmental and social performance of the asset or company in which 
they invest.  
 

4.3 The Council will practice active ownership through its choice over asset managers and 
asset management strategies. The Council will monitor and report the approach taken 
by asset managers in integrating ESG risks and opportunities into their modelling as 
part of their value assessment. 
 

5 GOVERNANCE 
 

5.1 The Responsible Investment Policy is owned by the Investment Governance Board 
and approved by Cabinet and Full Council. The Chief Operating Officer is accountable 
for implementation of the policy, with the Head of Finance responsible for other 
treasury management policies and practices. 
 

6 APPLICATION 
 

6.1 The policy beliefs are applicable to the Council’s long term strategic investment 
portfolio only. ESG integration and reporting in short term low volatility net asset money 
market funds is less developed so the scope of this policy does not extend to them but 
will be kept under review. However the Council will expect funds to be signatories of 
the Stewardship Code 2012 and working towards the 2020 Code that is being 
implemented in 2021.  
 

6.2 External asset managers used by the Council should have Responsible Investment 
and ESG policies in place and a high UN PRI Assessment Score (awarded annually). 
A high score is defined as the highest possible bands being A or A+.  
 

6.3 The Investment Governance Board will receive annually a report detailing how each 
asset management firm integrates ESG risks into their financial assessment and 
decisions. This will include a summary of the annual United Nations Principle for 
Responsible Investment (PRI) Assessment Scores 
 

 
 

Page 45



Appendix 2: Investment Area 
 

Investment Target Area 

 

The investment target area outside of the Local Plan boundary follows the definition of the 
Greater Cambridge commuting pattern, as identified in the Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough Independent Economic Review (September 2018): 
 

 

In the south of the district, the commuting area could include a number of districts outside the 
county and consideration will be given to including those within the investment target area. 

 

 

Page 46



Appendix 3: Commercial Regeneration Investments  
 

1.  Objective 
 
The objective of commercial regeneration investments is to establish a framework for the 
identification of properties or land for redevelopment. These opportunities may deliver 
placemaking, environmental or economic development benefits, as defined in the Councils 
Business Plan, as well as positive financial returns for the Council in the form of future 
revenue income streams or capital uplifts. We want to ensure that sustainable economic 
growth opportunities can be identified and supported, as appropriate, across South 
Cambridgeshire and not just in the growing new towns.  Future revenue income streams 
could include increases in retained business rates income and New Homes Bonus. 
 
A key outcome of this category of investment will be the generation of economic growth 
through providing facilities and infrastructure. This includes the delivery of environmental 
benefits for the area.  
 
Developed properties may be retained for the benefit of their long-term rental income and will 
become an investment asset after completion.  
 
The decision on whether or not these investments would meet the overall objectives of this 
Strategy will be informed by a detailed financial appraisal. The commercial regeneration 
investment criteria will be designed to ensure that the financial returns delivered from 
investments are commensurate with the deemed levels of associated risk. A higher risk 
investment will, therefore, require the delivery of greater financial returns. 

 

2. Scope of Investment  
 
Commercial Regeneration investment opportunities could come in a diverse range of forms. 
Examples include, but are not limited to: 
 

 Assets that provide accommodation for essential businesses and services that are 
critical to the health of the local economy. 
 

 Investing in climate and environmental initiatives, further exploiting and supporting 
green energy generation and maximising energy efficiency. 

 

 Investing in Social Capital. 
 

 Redeveloping Council owned assets. 
 

 Building homes and commercial premises. 
 

 Using public land and buildings to achieve long-term socio-economic development 
within the District and wider Greater Cambridgeshire Area. 

 

 Employment Zones 
 
In line with Government guidance, commercial investment will need to be categorised for the 
purpose of “service delivery”, “housing”, “regeneration” or “preventative”. Given the new 
borrowing rules, there is a presumption against the acquisition of commercial assets primarily 
for yield, such as prime and close to prime commercial real estate investment (even by the 
use of existing reserves for this purpose).  

Page 47



 
Regeneration projects are permissible and are described in the guidance as having 
characteristics that fall into one of four areas: 
 
(a) The project is addressing an economic or social market failure by providing services, 

facilities, or other amenities of value to local people and that would not otherwise be 
provided by the private sector. 
 

(b) The Local Authority is making a significant investment in the asset beyond the 
purchase price: developing the assets to improve them and/or change their use, or 
otherwise making a significant financial investment. 
 

(c) The project involves or generates significant additional activity that would not 
otherwise happen without the local authority’s intervention, creating jobs and/or social 
or economic value. 
 

(d) While some parts of the project may generate rental income, these rents are recycled 
within the project or applied to related regeneration projects, rather than being applied 
to wider services. 

 
The “preventative” category can involve direct investments in companies or other assets to 
prevent social or economic decline (distinct from the regeneration category). The 
Government has defined this activity in the published guidance as action with all of the 
following characteristics:  
 
(a) The intervention prevents a negative outcome, such as by buying and conserving 

assets of community value that would otherwise fall into disrepair or providing support 
to maintain economic activity that would otherwise cease. 
 

(b) There is no realistic prospect of support from a source other than the local authority. 
 

(c) The local authority has an exit strategy and does not propose to hold the investment 
for longer than is necessary to achieve the objectives that justified the intervention. 
 

(d) The intervention takes the form of grants, loans, sale and leaseback, equity injections, 
or other forms of business support that generate a balance sheet asset.  

 
The Housing category covers the continuation of HRA schemes and General Fund housing 
activity, or housing delivered through Council owned companies and thus does not restrict 
the borrowing for the purpose of social or affordable housing.  
 
Individual projects and schemes may have characteristics of several different categories of 
spending. In these cases, the Section 151 Officer will need to use his professional judgment 
to assess the main objective of the investment and consider which category is the best fit.  

 
The categorisation does not prevent the Council from borrowing for projects that are primarily 
for other purposes, which also happen to generate a financial yield. The challenge will be 
finding projects that deliver much more than financial yield, such that the Section 151 Officer 
is satisfied that the investment is not primarily for yield and that the yield in such projects will 
be secondary to another prime purpose. This could include: 
 
(a) Land assembly for development or regeneration purposes. 
(b) Using borrowing to acquire or build new service assets (e.g. a new administrative 

office building, or a new leisure centre) and then re-purposing the existing redundant 
building into a ‘yield’ asset. 

Page 48



(c) Projects where the intention is to inject further investment beyond the initial purchase 
price; this could be through refurbishing or re-purposing the acquired asset. For 
example, purchasing an office building with the intention of converting it say into 
residential or other uses, for yield. Alternatively, acquiring a run-down industrial estate 
with a view to gaining vacant possession, demolishing it, and then redeveloping the 
site to create a new business or retail park. 

(d) Ring-fencing revenue income from existing yield-based assets to invest on that asset, 
or other yield bearing assets, to improve investment performance and yields.  

(e) Reviewing the existing ‘legacy’ property portfolio and identifying opportunities where 
investment could generate greater yields.  
 

Every scenario will need to be reviewed on a case-by-case basis, and the S151 Officer will 
need to be satisfied that the scheme or acquisition meets the borrowing rules and will not 
fetter the ability to access PWLB borrowing.  

 

3. Property Acquisition/Development Methodology 
 
Identification, consideration and recommendation of assets suitable for acquisition and/or 
development will be undertaken by the Economic Development & Commercial Investments 
Team in conjunction with internal resource and outside specialist guidance and professional 
support, as required, procured in accordance with the Council's established Contract 
Procedure Rules. This may involve approaches and introductions of opportunities direct from 
sellers, their agents and third parties. In such cases, fees may be payable if, after an 
introduction is made, the Council wishes to pursue the purchase further. 
 
All investments considered for purchase will undergo qualitative and quantitative appraisal to 
establish portfolio suitability and risks. In addition, 3rd party advice will be called upon where 
specialist market knowledge is required. Any purchase will be subject to due diligence on all 
physical, financial and legal aspects of the commercial investment to address its suitability 
as an asset for long term security and growth. It is recognised that some of the cost of 
feasibility work and technical appraisal and assessment will be abortive. 
 
These investment opportunities will initially be submitted to IST for consideration and 
subsequently to the IGB. 
 
All commercially based investments and/or developments involve risk and, at each stage of 
the process, the commitments made will be at risk as there can be no guarantee that the 
investment will be secured or a fully successful development will be achieved. The terms of 
the agreement between the parties will seek to mitigate the inherent risks. Moreover, the 
timing of the exercise can also be a critical factor in achieving optimum success, particularly 
in terms of market conditions, the state of the national economy and levels of investment 
confidence within the development industry.  
 

4. Investment Partnerships 
 
This category of investment includes the identification of properties or land for development 
of new homes and other assets through Investment Partnerships. Investment Partnerships 
could come in a diverse range of forms. Examples include, but are not limited to: 
 

 Building homes and commercial premises; 
 

 pursuing redevelopment and regeneration opportunities; 
 

Page 49



 Enabling long-term stalled developments; 
 

 Using public land and buildings to achieve long-term socio-economic sustainability for 
the District and wider Greater Cambridgeshire Area. 

 
These opportunities may deliver regeneration or economic development benefits as well as 
positive financial returns for the Council in the form of future revenue income streams or 
capital uplifts. Future income streams may include: 
 

 Rental income from Council Housing (HRA Affordable Homes); 
 

 Rental income from Private Rented Sector Housing (PRS) through Ermine Street 
Housing; 
 

 Capital receipts from Intermediate Home Ownership stair-casing; 
 

 Capital receipts from Right to Buy and the sale of constructed assets; 
 

 Increases in retained business rates; 
 

 New Homes Bonus. 
 
By the nature of these investments, returns are likely to be in the form of capital receipts from 
the sale of a constructed asset, potentially developed in phases depending on the scale of the 
project. Developed properties may, however, be retained for the benefit of their long-term 
rental income and will become an investment asset after completion.  
 
The investment criteria will be designed to ensure that the financial returns delivered from 
investments are commensurate with the deemed levels of associated risk. A higher risk 
investment will, therefore, require the delivery of greater financial returns. 
 

5. Green Energy Projects 
 
The approved Business Plan 2020-2025 identifies the Focus, Actions and Measures which 
relate to green energy investments within the ‘Green to our core’ priority. 
 
The Investment Strategy will develop projects identified in the Green Energy Programme, 
which is responsible for co-ordinating transformation activities within the South 
Cambridgeshire District Council commercial estate and assess these using the same criteria 
as other commercial regeneration investments. 
 

6. Minimum Investment Criteria 
 
For a commercial regeneration investment to be considered by the IGB it must:  
 
(a) Deliver a rate of return commensurate with the deemed level of risk associated with 

the investment. 
 

(b) Be accompanied by a full business case, using the outline business case template at 
Appendix 4. If relevant to the form of commercial investment, the investment criteria 
matrix at Appendix 5, should be used. The minimum score target will be determined 
by IST having regard to Business Plan objectives. 
 

Page 50



(c) Include an assessment of the carbon equivalent tonnes to allow proposals to be 
scored against the context of reducing the Council's carbon footprint.  
 

(d) Include an assessment of the strategic fit of the investment proposed against the 
Objectives and Focus Areas contained within the 2020-2025 Business Plan.  
 

The assessment criteria needs to be agile enough to allow significantly different schemes to 
be assessed using the same overarching principles. 
 
The investment opportunities could vary significantly and, due to the speculative nature of 
some schemes, there will be higher risks attached to some investment opportunities. Each 
potential investment will undergo a qualitative and quantitative appraisal and risk assessment 
to establish the financial returns, financial and legal implications and risks associated with 
the purchase. The findings of these appraisals will be reported to the IGB as part of the 
business case. 
 
An investment opportunity that does not meet the minimum criteria may have separate 
investment or regeneration benefits and, therefore, may still be considered for progression, 
however, decision making in this case is to be reserved to the Cabinet. For investments where 
there is a variable revenue stream, such as some energy projects, or a long time gap between 
investment and first revenue, such as development projects, alternative valuation options, 
such as the Internal Rate of Return (IRR) may be appropriate as a measure of an 
investment’s rate of return. 
 
 

7. Risk Management 
 
7.1 Financing Risk: As with all investments, there are risks that capital values, rental 

values and development values can fall as well as rise. Where the acquisition or 
development is reliant on increases in borrowing the business case will factor in fixed 
rate borrowing costs commensurate with the anticipated holding period of the asset. 
By utilising fixed rate borrowing options the Council will be protected from future 
increases in financing costs. 
 

Financial returns may come in the form of capital receipts either in place of or in 
addition to revenue returns. This would need to be considered carefully as part of the 
overall Investment Strategy given the requirement to achieve net revenue returns of 
2.5% overall.  
 

7.24 Portfolio Risk: To mitigate portfolio risk, the Council will seek to maintain a diverse 
commercial property portfolio and, in this regard, future decisions on its established 
commercial property estate will have regard to diversification. Each asset is reviewed 
on an annual basis in order to review its performance, investment requirements and 
whether it should remain in the portfolio. Void periods for commercial investment 
properties held by the Council will be monitored and vacancy levels reported to the 
IGB during the year to ensure active management. 
 

7.25 Development Risk: The Council assesses the risk of loss before entering into and 
whilst holding property investments, including adequate due diligence checks, 
surveys and technical reports to support the business case.  
 

Page 51



 

Appendix 4: Business Case Outline 
 
The business case will include the following as a minimum: 
 
Reasons:  Why is the investment needed? 
Options: What are the options available? 
Benefits: What would be the benefits of the investment? How would it help deliver the 

Business Plan objectives? 
 
Investment Appraisal: A detailed financial appraisal setting out the projected income and 
costs associated with a potential acquisition along with an assessment of the proposed 
financing options and associated risks and considerations. 
 
Risk Management Assessment: A detailed risk assessment of the potential investment, 
including mitigation measures that can be employed: 
 
Specific risks associated with the proposed investment: 

• Risk of failure (sales/letting void risks) 
• Costs of ownership and management 
• Differing ownership structures (e.g. wholly owned subsidiaries). 
• Sector risk (portfolio spread) 
• Provide an exit strategy financial assessment as a ‘worse case’ scenario 
• Liquidity assessment 
• LTV ratio assessment 

 
Market Risks, including risks of structural change or market failure, which may affect the 
market as a whole or particular subsectors or groups of property: 

• Illiquidity upon sale (e.g. lot size, transaction times, availability of finance) 
• Failure to meet market value expectations (forecast value growth) 
• Failure to meet market yield expectations (forecast yield shift) 
• Risk of locational, economic, physical and functional depreciation through structural change 
• Risks associated with legislative change (e.g. planning or changes in fiscal policy) 

 
Portfolio Assessment: An assessment to establish suitability against the Council’s existing 
property portfolio which will consider rental levels, location, property type, rent review and 
lease expiry patterns, industry sector, tenure, lease covenants, market exit constraints and 
physical and environmental factors. 
 
Legal Status/Advice: Including the following: 

 
• Report on title (to confirm ownership) 
• Options for legal structures (e.g. use of wholly owned subsidiaries) 
• Advice on SDLT and VAT linked to use of legal structure options 

 
Estimated Timescale: Including the following: 

 
• Proposed start date/Estimated end date/duration 

 
Estimated Project Resources: Including the following: 

 
• Identify role and name of officers  
• Estimate the demand on officer time 
• Identify resource gaps and whether these can be met 
• Identify external resources required and estimated budget cost  

Page 52



 
 

Appendix 5 – Commercial Regeneration Investment Criteria Matrix 

 

For appropriate transactions, the IST will score the property investment against the scoring criteria shown below. The criteria will apply to the 
acquisition of new and existing assets and in these cases the minimum score for the investment would be at least 100 out of a maximum score 
of 184.  
 
The criteria will not, however, cover all commercial investment scenarios, including regeneration opportunities and, in these cases, a detailed 
business case would need to be prepared in line with the outline at appendix 6, balancing the level of return with the project risk. 
 
The Investment Criteria Matrix is based upon CIPFA guidance and is comparable with methods used by other local authorities, such as New 
Forest, Kettering and Redditch, which all broadly follow a format recommended by CIPFA.  The table below shows the suggested scoring criteria 
to be applied when considering an investment opportunity. 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 53



Score  4 3 2 1 0 

Scoring Criteria 
Weighting 
Factor 

Excellent / very 
good 

Good Acceptable Marginal Unacceptable 

Location 12 10 Major Prime Micro Prime Major Secondary Micro Secondary Tertiary 

Tenancy Strength 10 8  
Single tenant with 
strong financial 
covenant 

Single tenant with 
good financial 
covenant 

Multiple tenants with 
strong financial 
covenant 

Multiple tenants with 
good financial covenant 

Tenants with poor 
financial covenant 
strength / vacant 

Single/Multi Let 6 Single Let 2-3 Tenants 4-6 Tenants 6+ Tenants Vacant 

Occupiers lease 
length 

5 
Greater than 10 
years 

Between 7 and 10 
years 

Between 4 and 7 
years 

Between 2 and 4 years 
Less than 2 years; 
vacant 

Re-letting 
prospects (Void 
Period) 

5 < 3 months 3-6 months 6-12 months 12-18 months 18+ months 

Tenure 9 4 Freehold Lease 125 years plus 
Lease between 50 & 
125 years 

Lease between 20 & 50 
years 

Lease less than 20 
years 

EPC/Sustainability 4 
Highly Sustainable 
A-B 

Mainly Sustainable 
C 

Moderate but some 
works would be 
beneficial - D 

Unlikely to be 
problematic when re-
letting or selling - E 

Unsustainable - F or 
worse 

Repairing Terms 
obligations 

4 3 
Full repairing and 
insuring 

Internal repairing – 
100% recoverable 

Internal repairing – 
partially recoverable 

Internal repairing – no 
recoverable 

Landlord 

Building Quality / 
obsolescence 

4 2 
Newly Built 

(useful life 50+ 
years) 

Recently refurbished 
(within the past 5 
years) 

Average condition 
and likely to continue 
to be fit for current 
use for 25+ years 

Aged property with 
redevelopment potential 

Nearing end of useful 
life / unlikely to 
continue when lease 
expires 

Income Profile 2 10% Reversionary 0-10% Reversionary Rack Rented Over Rented -10% Over Rented - 10%+ 

Lot size 
 

2 1 
Between £6m and 
£12m 

Between £4m & £6m 
or 12m and £18m 

Between £2m & £4m 
or £18m and £20m 

Between £1m & £2m or 
£20m & £25m 

Less than £1m or more 
than £25m 

 

 

 

 

P
age 54



Investment Criteria Definitions 

Location - property is categorised as prime, secondary or tertiary in terms of its location desirability. For example, a shop located in the best trading 
position in a town would be prime, whereas a unit on a peripheral neighbourhood shopping parade would be considered tertiary. 

Tenancy Strength – the financial strength and risk of failure of a tenant determines the security of the property’s rental income. A financially weak 
tenant increases the likelihood that the property will fall vacant. Rating agencies, such as Dun & Bradstreet are often used to evaluate covenant 
strength, ranging from “5A” to “HH” to reflect company size based upon worth or equity, and a Composite Credit Appraisal from 1 to 4 to reflect the 
assessment of the firm’s creditworthiness. The minimum acceptable financial strength for any given tenant will be determined through financial 
appraisal of company accounts and the use of appropriate methods of risk assessment and credit scoring. To minimise management and risk, the 
preference will be for single occupancy investments wherever possible. 

Tenure – anything less than a freehold acquisition will need to be appropriately reflected in the price.  If leasehold, is the lease free from 
unencumbered/onerous terms? Is the rent periodically reviewed to take into account inflation and upward market movement? 

Occupational Lease Length – the lease term will determine the duration of the tenant’s contractual obligation to pay rent. The most attractive 
investments offer a long lease with a strong tenant covenant. The lease term will reflect any tenant break clauses. The optimum lease length will 
depend on the sector, with commercial B1 offices typically 7+years and 10+ years for industrial. Retained agents will be expected to qualify the quality 
of the length lease in their pre-acquisition report. 

Building Quality – a brand new or recently refurbished building with an anticipated life of at least 40 years will not usually require capital expenditure 
for at least 15 years. This is attractive for income investors requiring long term rental income with the minimum of ongoing capital expenditure. 

Repairing Obligations – under a Full Repairing & Insuring Lease (FRI), the tenant is responsible for the building’s interior and exterior 
maintenance/repair. The obligation is limited to the building’s interior under an Internal Repairing & Insuring Lease (IRI). The preference will be to 
favour FRI terms (or FRI by way of service charge i.e. all costs relating to occupation and repairs are borne by the tenants and administered through 
a service charge). 

Lot Size – to maintain portfolio balance the preference will be for no single property investment to exceed £12m for a single let property. 

In addition to the above criteria the IGB should, when assessing the merits of an investment, specifically consider compatibility with all SCDC policies 
on matters relating to use such as: - 

 Alcohol or tobacco production or sale; 

 Animal exploitation; 

 Environmentally damaging practices; 

 Gambling; 

 Pornography. 

P
age 55



T
his page is left blank intentionally.



 
  

Report to: 
 

Scrutiny and Overview Committee           28 February 2023 

Lead Cabinet Member: 
 

Cllr John Williams (Lead Cabinet Member for Resources) 
 

Lead Officer: 
 

Jeff Membery (Head of Transformation) 

 

 
 

2022-23 Quarter Three Performance Report 

 

Executive Summary 

1. This report presents the Council’s Quarter Three (Q3) position regarding its operational 
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs), for consideration, comment and onward submission 
to Cabinet.  
 

2. On this occasion the Business Plan Progress report is not included within this report. This 
is because the latest position in relation to Business Plan progress was included within 
the draft 2023-24 Business Plan that was submitted to the Scrutiny and Overview 
meeting on 19 January, and Cabinet on 06 February 2023. The Q4 performance report 
will return to the usual format. 

Key Decision 

3. No  

Recommendations 

4. It is recommended that Scrutiny and Overview Committee: 
 

a) Review the KPI results and comments at Appendix A, recommending, where 
appropriate, any actions required to address issues identified, and approving 
onward submission to Cabinet.  

Reasons for Recommendations 

5. These recommendations are required to enable management and members to 
understand the organisation’s performance. The information included within performance 
reports contributes to the evidence base for the ongoing review of priorities and enables, 
where appropriate, redirection of resources to reflect emerging priorities and address 
areas of concern. 

 

Page 57

Agenda Item 7



Details 

Key Performance Indicator (KPI) Report 

6. This report presents Key Performance Indicator (KPI) results that are aligned to high-
level, business-as-usual activities that underpin the successful delivery of the Council’s 
services.  
 

7. The data in Appendix A shows actual performance against target and intervention levels 
and accompanying comments, as provided by performance indicator owners. The 
Council uses a ‘traffic light’ system to denote performance, whereby: 

 Green signifies performance targets that have been met or surpassed. 

 Amber denotes performance below target but above intervention level. It is the 
responsibility of service managers to monitor such performance closely, putting in 
place remedial actions to raise standards as required. 

 Red denotes performance below the intervention level. This represents 
underperformance of concern and should prompt interventions and may involve 
the reallocation of resources or proposals to redesign how services are provided. 

8. This report also contains a column called ‘Outlook RAG’ which was a new addition earlier 
in the 2022-23 financial year. The purpose of this column is to provide an indication of 
expected performance levels over the following quarter. This is based on estimates 
provided by service managers and helps to flag any risks to performance levels and 
prompt discussion about how these may be mitigated. 

Implications 

 
9. In the writing of this report, taking into account financial, legal, staffing, risk, equality and 

diversity, climate change, and any other key issues, the following implications have been 
considered:- 

 
There are no significant implications beyond those raised by performance indicator 
owners within the comments section of the Key Performance Indicator report at 
(Appendix A).  

Consultation responses 

10. All performance indicator results, and commentaries are provided by or at the instruction 
of performance indicator owners 

Alignment with Council Priority Areas 

11. The KPI report (Appendix A) allows business-as-usual performance to be monitored and 
managed across the Council’s range of activities. 

Background Papers 

South Cambridgeshire District Council Business Plan 2020-25 

Page 58



Appendices 

Appendix A: Key Performance Indicator Report 

Report Author:  

Kevin Ledger – Senior Policy and Performance Officer 
Telephone: (01954) 713018 

 
 
 

Page 59



This page is left blank intentionally.



Appendix A - Key Performance Indicator Report - Q3 2022 - 2023 Finance

Key Performance Indicator and Owner, organised by Directorate and Service Area Actual Target Intervention
Outlook 
RAG Comments

Benefits
FS112 Average number of days to process new HB/CTS claims

Dawn Graham
Oct 9 15 20
Nov 8 15 20
Dec 8 15 20 Green

FS113 Average number of days to process HB/CTS change events
Dawn Graham

Oct 4 10 15
Nov 5 10 15
Dec 3 10 15 Green

Finance
FS109 % undisputed invoices paid in 30 days

Peter Maddock
Oct 98.50 98.5 96.5
Nov 99.54 98.5 96.5
Dec 98.51 98.5 96.5 Green

Note: Whilst some KPIs are reported monthly, others are reported quarterly. For quarterly KPIs the results are labelled based on the month at the end of the quarter (e.g. Q1 = Jun, Q2 = Sep) 

P
age 61



Appendix A - Key Performance Indicator Report - Q3 2022 - 2023 Finance

Key Performance Indicator and Owner, organised by Directorate and Service Area Actual Target Intervention
Outlook 
RAG Comments

Revenues
FS102 % Housing Rent collected

Katie Kelly
Oct 96.73 97.2 95.26
Nov 97.22 97.3 95.35
Dec 97.25 97.7 95.75 Green

FS104 % Business Rates collected (year to date)
Katie Kelly

Oct 68.7 68.66 67.29
Nov 77.0 77.85 76.29
Dec 84.5 86.30 84.57 Green

FS105 % Council Tax collected (year to date)
Katie Kelly

Oct 67.9 69.3 67.91
Nov 77.1 79.0 77.42
Dec 86.3 88.5 86.73 Green

Report continues on the following page.

Line chart not included for this PI - chart scale means 
result is indistinguishable from the target.

Line chart not included for this PI - chart scale means 
result is indistinguishable from the target.

Line chart not included for this PI - chart scale means 
result is indistinguishable from the target.

Throughout this year council tax collection performance has 
tracked under target which is largely due to instalments shifting to 
Feb / Mar as accounts are updated. 

We have seen a slight increase in the number of recovery 
documents issued in December, but this could be due to the fact 
that these were issued earlier in the month, and so further 
monitoring is required. 

It’s likely that this position will remain for January collection 
performance, but we are expecting a more positive change for 
February and March as instalments are due.

The next collectible debit increased by £1.5m in December, 
largely due to two very large assessments being added to the 
rating list. As we report collection performance as the % of what is 
available to collect, this impacts on the outturn figure. Bills on 
these properties are not due to be paid until 1st Feb and so 
January performance figures are likely to show lower too, followed 
by improvements towards the end of the quarter. 

Whilst slightly lower that target, rents performance for December 
is a 0.23% increase on the same period last year.

Note: Whilst some KPIs are reported monthly, others are reported quarterly. For quarterly KPIs the results are labelled based on the month at the end of the quarter (e.g. Q1 = Jun, Q2 = Sep) 

P
age 62



Appendix A - Key Performance Indicator Report - Q2 2022 - 2023  Greater Cambridge Planning Service

Key Performance Indicator and Owner, organised by Directorate and Service Area Actual Target Intervention
Outlook 
RAG Comments

Dev. Management
PN510 % of major applications determined within 13 weeks or agreed timeline (2 
year reporting period cumulative)

Heather Jones
Sep 70.08 65 60
Dec 67.47 65 60 Green

PN511 % of non-major applications determined within 8 weeks or agreed timeline (2 
year reporting period cumulative)

Heather Jones
Sep 75.00 75 70
Dec 71.00 75 70 Amber

PN512 % of appeals against major planning permissions refusal allowed (2 year 
reporting period cumulative)

Heather Jones
Sep 3.97 5 10
Dec 4.64 5 10 Green

December's result was amber, as was predicted with the Outlook 
RAG at the end of Q2. This is because we entered the next two 
year reporting period meaning strong monthly results from before 
Oct 2021 no longer contribute to the 2 year cumulative, while 
slightly lower results from this time last year continue to be 
included.

The team have worked hard to remove the validation backlog and 
we are progressing through the historical applications over 26 
weeks with our Planning Additional Resource Team. PN519 
(below) also shows the amount of time to determine validated 
householder applications is reducing.

Additional verification has taken place resulting in minor 
changes to PN510 results up to December 2022. The result for 
September 2022 and the line chart to the left have been 
updated accordingly. None ot these updates have resulted in a 
change in RAG status.

Note: Whilst some KPIs are reported monthly, others are reported quarterly. For quarterly KPIs the results are labelled based on the month at the end of the quarter (e.g. Q1 = Jun, Q2 = Sep) 

P
age 63



Appendix A - Key Performance Indicator Report - Q2 2022 - 2023  Greater Cambridge Planning Service

Key Performance Indicator and Owner, organised by Directorate and Service Area Actual Target Intervention
Outlook 
RAG Comments

PN513 % of appeals against non-major planning permission refusal allowed (2 year 
reporting period cumulative)

Heather Jones
Sep 0.83 5 10
Dec 0.93 5 10 Green

PN519 Average time to determine validated householder Planning applications 
(weeks)

Heather Jones
Sep 9.00 10 12
Dec 8.60 10 12 Green

Land Charges
SX025 Average Land Charges search response days

Heather Jones
Oct 12.13 12 15
Nov 11.27 12 15
Dec 8.17 12 15 Green

Report continues on the following page.

The Land Charges team have worked hard to reduce the 
turnaround time in Q3. The previous result from Q2 was impacted 
by sickness and annual leave over several weeks, plus an issue 
with the build control data migration affected Q2. 

All of these issues were resolved in Q3 allowing the team to catch 
up and provide searches within target. With the support of the 
Technical Support (TSO) team we have also been able to cleanse 
a small amount of data (3000 listed buildings records) to help 
support the Land Charges team to produce searches without the 
need for manual correction of original application.

Note: Whilst some KPIs are reported monthly, others are reported quarterly. For quarterly KPIs the results are labelled based on the month at the end of the quarter (e.g. Q1 = Jun, Q2 = Sep) 

P
age 64



Appendix A - Key Performance Indicator Report - Q3 2022 - 2023 Housing

Key Performance Indicator and Owner, organised by Directorate and Service Area Actual Target Intervention
Outlook 
RAG Comments

Housing Advice
AH230 Number of households with children leaving B&B accommodation after 
longer than 6 weeks

Heather Wood
Sep 0 0 1
Dec 0 0 1 Green

Housing and Property Services
AH204 % tenants satisfied with responsive repairs

Eddie Spicer
Sep 91 97 92
Dec 89 97 92 Amber

Line chart not included for this PI - chart scale means 
result is indistinguishable from the target.

Work is taking place to revise the reporting method for this KPI to 
align with the new repairs contract with Mears that began in 
October 2022. This is expected to be in place for Q1 of the new 
financial year and will show greater detail, highlighting where 
work needs to be focused to reach target. 

With the the new repairs contract we are developing a new 
methodology to collect customer feedback, and this will be 
reported from the new financial year. 

Anecdotal evidence from residents is that satisfaction with repairs 
is improving, and linked to the new contract, but this is not yet 
shown using the current methodology. 

Note: Whilst some KPIs are reported monthly, others are reported quarterly. For quarterly KPIs the results are labelled based on the month at the end of the quarter (e.g. Q1 = Jun, Q2 = Sep) 

P
age 65



Appendix A - Key Performance Indicator Report - Q3 2022 - 2023 Housing

Key Performance Indicator and Owner, organised by Directorate and Service Area Actual Target Intervention
Outlook 
RAG Comments

AH211 Average days to re-let all housing stock
Eddie Spicer

Oct 26 17 25
Nov 26 17 25
Dec 32 17 25 Amber

SH332 % emergency repairs in 24 hours
Eddie Spicer

Oct 100 98 95
Nov 100 98 95
Dec 100 98 95 Green

Report continues on the following page.

We believe the cost of living crisis is starting to affect the 
behaviour of some tenants when they come to leave their council 
home. Financial, physical, and mental health considerations have 
meant that we are seeing greater numbers of tenants leaving 
unwanted possessions, household waste and properties 
generally in a poor condition. 

This means that before we can determine what repair and 
maintenance works are necessary, to enable a property to be re-
let, we are having to instruct contractors to carry out extensive 
clearances and deep cleans. This increases the length of time 
some of our properties are standing empty. In addition, several 
properties returned to us in recent months have suffered from 
structural issues which have required specialist surveys and 
major refurbishment works. This has stretched the resources we 
have available to us to complete repair and maintenance work. 

We have re-focussed our efforts on pre-termination inspections to 
try and mitigate against some of what we are seeing. Work is 
also taking place to breakdown the various elements of our 
'empty homes process' with a revised reporting method for the 
new financial year.

Note: Whilst some KPIs are reported monthly, others are reported quarterly. For quarterly KPIs the results are labelled based on the month at the end of the quarter (e.g. Q1 = Jun, Q2 = Sep) 

P
age 66



Appendix A - Key Performance Indicator Report - Q3 2022 - 2023 HR and Corporate Services

Key Performance Indicator and Owner, organised by Directorate and Service Area Actual Target Intervention
Outlook 
RAG Comments

Democratic Services
CC314 % of public hybrid meetings run without issues causing downtime exceeding 5 minutes

Jeff Membery
Sep 94 90 80
Dec 100 90 80 Green

HR
FS117 % Staff turnover (non-cumulative)

Jeff Membery
Sep 3.12 3.25 4
Dec 3.09 3.25 4 Green

FS125 Staff sickness days per FTE excluding SSWS (non-cumulative)
Jeff Membery

Sep 1.59 1.75 2.5
Dec 1.62 1.75 2.5 Green

Report continues on the following page.

A green Outlook RAG has been applied following two 
consecutive results that were better than target. In Q4 the council 
is also trialling the 4 day week, which may contribute to improved 
staff wellbeing.

Note: Whilst some KPIs are reported monthly, others are reported quarterly. For quarterly KPIs the results are labelled based on the month at the end of the quarter (e.g. Q1 = Jun, Q2 = Sep) 

P
age 67



Appendix A - Key Performance Indicator Report - Q3 2022 - 2023 Shared Waste and Environment

Key Performance Indicator and Owner, organised by Directorate and Service Area Actual Target Intervention
Outlook 
RAG Comments

Shared Waste Service
ES408 % of bins collected on schedule

Bode Esan
Oct 99.65 99.7 99.25
Nov 99.64 99.7 99.25
Dec 99.83 99.7 99.25 Green

ES418 % of household waste sent for reuse, recycling and composting (cumulative)
Bode Esan

Oct 50.30 52 48
Nov 50.39 52 48
Dec 50.03 52 48 Amber

SF786a Staff sickness days per FTE - Shared Waste Service Only
Bode Esan

Sep 2.97 3 3.5
Dec 3.70 3 3.5 Red

Report continues on the following page.

Although December's result was red, the total number of days lost 
to sickness was lower this quarter compared with Q3 2021-22. An 
increase in sickness levels over the winter is to be expected for 
non-office based colleagues and follows last year’s pattern. 

Preventative measures have taken place including flu clinics and 
health MOT sessions. The HR team continue to work closely with 
team managers to ensure prompt action to support staff to return 
to work, including promotion of employee assistance programme, 
occupational health and signposting to further support.  

Training in February will focus on nutrition and health, with 
Everyone Health attending to present and provide guidance to 
crews. They will also be hosting health clinics. 

The Outlook RAG is red due to the seasonal nature of absence in 
this area. 

One third of the missed bins came from organic (green) bins in 
Oct. This was due to a wave of staff shortages and sickness that 
meant the crew operated with less resources on these rounds. 

Half of the missed bins in Nov were for residual (black bin) 
rounds. This was a result of new staff and minor changes to trial 
different routes on a small number of streets. Performance 
stabilised in Dec and now back on track. Performance acro is still 
above the target.

Dec figures are provisional with final recycling the final result for 
still to be confirmed from partners. Particularly cold weather in 
Dec  resulted in a significantly low volume of organic waste (half 
that of Nov's tonnage). Dry recycling increased and residual 
(black bin) waste decreased per household in Dec which 
reinforces the contribution that the green bin tonnages have 
regarding the recycling rate.

Note: Whilst some KPIs are reported monthly, others are reported quarterly. For quarterly KPIs the results are labelled based on the month at the end of the quarter (e.g. Q1 = Jun, Q2 = Sep) 

P
age 68



Appendix A - Key Performance Indicator Report - Q3 2022 - 2023 Transformation

Key Performance Indicator and Owner, organised by Directorate and Service Area Actual Target Intervention
Outlook 
RAG Comments

Complaints
CC305 % of formal complaints resolved within timescale (all SCDC)

Jeff Membery
Sep 84.38 80 70
Dec 91.84 80 70 Green

Contact Centre
CC302 % calls to the Contact Centre resolved first time

Jeff Membery
Oct 77.0 80 70
Nov 80.0 80 70
Dec 82.6 80 70 Amber

CC303 % of calls to the Contact Centre that are handled (answered)
Jeff Membery

Oct 94.79 90 80
Nov 94.74 90 80
Dec 97.37 90 80 Amber

There has been an improvement throughout the quarter following 
September's lower result, and as new staff have become more 
established. 

An amber Outlook RAG has been applied because historic data 
and lessons learned from previous years show that the Contact 
Centre's busiest time of year is Q4. In an attempt to maintain 
performance as much as possible, temporary staff are being 
sourced to specifically deal with the anticipated higher demand 
relating to Council Tax billing queries only and no other aspect of 
the business. This is a proactive approach to limit disruption 
caused by higher call volumes.

An amber Outlook RAG has been applied as explained in 
relation to CC302 above.

Note: Whilst some KPIs are reported monthly, others are reported quarterly. For quarterly KPIs the results are labelled based on the month at the end of the quarter (e.g. Q1 = Jun, Q2 = Sep) 

P
age 69



Appendix A - Key Performance Indicator Report - Q3 2022 - 2023 Transformation

Key Performance Indicator and Owner, organised by Directorate and Service Area Actual Target Intervention
Outlook 
RAG Comments

CC307 Average call answer time (seconds)
Jeff Membery

Oct 81 100 180
Nov 78 100 180
Dec 35 100 180 Amber

An amber Outlook RAG has been applied as explained in relation 
to CC302 above.

Note: Whilst some KPIs are reported monthly, others are reported quarterly. For quarterly KPIs the results are labelled based on the month at the end of the quarter (e.g. Q1 = Jun, Q2 = Sep) 

P
age 70



 
  

Report to: 
 

Scrutiny & Overview Committee              28 February 2023 

Lead Cabinet Member: 
 

Councillor Bill Handley (Lead Cabinet Member for 
Communities) 
 

Lead Officer: 
 

Liz Watts, Chief Executive Officer  

 

 
 

Further support for cost-of-living crisis for South 
Cambridgeshire residents 

Executive Summary 

1. To review the attached draft Cabinet report. 

Recommendations 

2. It is recommended that the Scrutiny and Overview Committee considers and 
comments on the report attached at Appendix A and recommends it to Cabinet for         
approval, with any amendments proposed. 

Reasons for Recommendations 

3. To inform the Cabinet decision. 

 

Appendix 

Appendix A: Draft report to Cabinet on 20 March 2023 

Report Authors:  

Ian Senior – Scrutiny and Governance Adviser 
Telephone: 01954 713028 

 
 
 

 

Page 71

Agenda Item 8



This page is left blank intentionally.



 

 
 
 
 
  

Report to: 
 

Cabinet                                                20 March 2023 

Lead Cabinet Member: 
 

Councillor Bill Handley, Lead Cabinet Member for 
Communities 
 

Lead Officer: 
 

Liz Watts, Chief Executive Officer 

 
 

 

Further support for cost-of-living crisis for South 
Cambridgeshire residents 
 

Executive Summary 

1. This report provides Cabinet with recommendations for how the Council could 
continue to support residents through the cost-of-living crisis. Existing funding is 
available to deliver the recommended programme of support over the next two 
years. The recommendations aim to create self-sustaining systems that will 
continue beyond initial funding and provide support to residents across the district 
experiencing hardship. The funding recommended follows a package of support 
agreed by the Cabinet on 14 November 2022 for up until the end of March 2023.   

Key Decision 

2. Yes. The key decision was first published in the February 2023 Forward Plan. 

Recommendations 

3. It is recommended that Cabinet approve the priorities set out in paragraphs 28 – 
35, and £206,000 funding set out in paragraph 37 to continue to support South 
Cambridgeshire communities during the ongoing cost-of-living crisis. 

Reasons for Recommendations 

4. Following the cost-of-living crisis declaration at a meeting of Full Council, a report 
was agreed by Cabinet on 14 November 2022 to provide a range of support 
targeted at more vulnerable residents to help with the current cost-of-living crisis. 

 

Page 73



 

The funding for many of the schemes proposed in that report comes to an end on 
31 March 2023. 
 

5. The cost-of-living crisis continues to have a major impact on individuals, families, 
and businesses nationally, including those living and working in South 
Cambridgeshire and this report summarises the work that has already been done 
and recommends additional support through the next 2 financial years.  

 

6. The crisis is impacting people with moderate to good incomes as well as those 
already in hardship. The increase in day-to-day bills, especially energy and food, 
is pushing those struggling deeper into hardship and poverty.  
 

7. We are hearing reports that the impossible choice between “heating and eating” 
may present more problems for our Health Services, which are still recovering 
from the demands caused by the Covid pandemic. Individuals who are unable to 
keep themselves warm, or feed themselves sufficiently, many of whom have 
underlying health conditions or are considered vulnerable, may develop health 
conditions as a result which require GP or hospital treatment.  

 
8. There is evidence to suggest that some are less able to cope with the cost-of-

living crisis so soon after the pandemic. Households, particularly those with low 
incomes, have run down savings and increased debt since the start of the 
pandemic. The Office for National Statistics found that by December 2020, nearly 
9 million people had to borrow more money than usual because of coronavirus. 
Groups which are more likely to have taken on more debt since the start of the 
coronavirus pandemic include renters, people from minority ethnic groups, 
parents and carers, disabled people, and young people.  
 

9. The effects of the cost-of-living crisis will continue for a number of years. Inflation 

will remain high through 2023 and the economic outlook continues to look 

challenging for many people and businesses. The Council has a duty to support 

the most vulnerable residents and with many existing projects ending on 31 

March 2023, the recommendations in this report extend support over the following 

years. 

 
10. The situation residents face is complex and there are no easy solutions. There 

are both long-term and short-term causes of the current crisis including:  

 The extraordinary rise in the cost of energy and fuel. 

 Interest rate rises. 

 The very high cost of housing which is extremely evident within South 
Cambridgeshire and its effects on rents in the area.  

 Rising food prices.  

 Income and wages, including social security benefits, have stagnated and 
some benefits such as Universal Credit (UC) have been reduced following 
increases during the pandemic.  

 The longer-term effects of the pandemic.  

 An ageing population.   

Page 74



 

 The current war in Ukraine (resulting in increased costs across a range of 
goods, services, foods, and energy).   

 
The Council had already been supporting residents in the following ways: - 
 
11. Dedicated income and money maximisation officer advice - available within 

Housing Advice and Benefits teams to help ensure people are claiming all support 
and assistance available to them including pre-tenancy advice and support in 
terms of managing finances, negotiating the costs of moving into a new home and 
some collaborative work with housing providers around affordability.  

 
12. Specialist debt advice to residents at risk of homelessness because of 

affordability and debt (service accessed via the Housing Advice Team), provided 
by Citizen’s Advice Bureau Money Advice Service.  

 
13. Council tax payments – residents can spread payments over 12 instalments 

rather than 10 instalments as had traditionally been the case.   
 
14. Improved information to increase and maximise income: Cost of living support - 

South Cambs District Council (scambs.gov.uk) – all information is now in one 
place to ensure people are aware of support by the Council and other 
organisations. This is supported by a printed resource.  

 
15. Supporting residents with Trussell Trust Food Bank vouchers - authorising and 

providing vouchers offering onward support and signposting as appropriate.  
 
16. Providing home energy improvements (for example, loft and wall insulation and 

solar PV) to homes where households are at risk of fuel poverty, funded through 
government schemes. (This work is delivered under the Action on Energy 
Cambridgeshire brand name, in collaboration with the other Cambridgeshire local 
authorities through the Cambridgeshire Energy Retrofit Partnership). 

 
17. The Council is also working with partners to ensure good understanding locally of 

the support available such as:  
 

 Cambridgeshire County Council on the Household Support Fund that 
provides one off food and fuel payments. The Council is a trusted partner 
and able to authorise vouchers.  

 Local Energy Action Partnership (LEAP) who provide energy and money 
saving advice to residents and an onward referrals service for income, 
benefits debt advice and funded energy efficient improvements.  

 
Following agreement by Cabinet on 14 November 2022, these additional measures 
commenced: - 
 
18. Reducing the cost of heating and cooking by providing free slow cookers and 

electric blankets to those ‘just about managing’. At the time of writing, over 300 

Page 75

https://www.scambs.gov.uk/cost-of-living-support/
https://www.scambs.gov.uk/cost-of-living-support/


 

people have been supplied with either an electric blanket or slow cooker, with 
many receiving both. 

 
19. Expansion of Warm Hubs project that had commenced across South 

Cambridgeshire to provide a community space whereby residents are able 
socialise and save on their heating bills while not heating their home during that 
time. So far, 25 Warm Hubs have opened across the district and as of 1 February 
2023, have received over 2,000 visits. 

 
20. The development of the Warm Hubs, where they have been successful, have 

provided opportunities for people living in loneliness and isolation to connect with 
their neighbours and make new friends building important local support networks.  
These appear to be proving most successful in those villages and communities 
which lack other amenities. 

 

21. Introducing a food parcel service to those communities without access to a food 
bank but in need of food aid. The food parcel delivery provides a bespoke 
selection of foods to feed an individual or family group for up to a week and can 
be delivered within 24 hours of the initial request. Deliveries can be made to a 
registered Warm Hub or the residents’ home in some circumstances.  

 
22. Further support through Community Chest grants. An additional £20,000 was 

made available for projects specifically helping tackle the effects of the cost-of-
living crisis. 

 
23. Additional budget of £100,000 to be used over 2022/23 and 2023/24 for 

Discretionary Housing Payments for people on Universal Credit (UC) or Housing 
Benefits for help with housing costs. 

 
24. A dedicated cost-of-living Project Officer to deliver projects thus far, and to act as 

a single point of contact for all cost-of-living crisis related enquiries through the 
Council. 

 
25. Although initial feedback has already been overwhelmingly positive, a full 

evaluation report will be undertaken in May 2023 containing more data. Lessons 
learnt so far have shaped the recommendations in this paper to ensure residents 
continue to receive a high standard of support. 

Focus of additional work to support residents through the cost-of-
living crisis in 2023/24 and 2024/25 

 

26. The Council declared a cost-of-living crisis at its September 2022 Council 
meeting, and subsequently passed a number of measures to support residents, 
with most of these measures ending on 31 March 2023. Below are the 
recommended options that officers have developed following engagement with 
the Lead Cabinet Member for Communities. The recommendations recognise the 

Page 76



 

need to create self-sustaining systems that do not require ongoing funding from 
the Council. Many of the recommended options require funding which is shown 
below. All the additional work can be funded through the use of available 
earmarked reserves. 

 
27. Following on from the investment last year, the Integrated Care System (ICS) 

have indicated that they will provide further grant funding for 2023/24 to continue 
projects which demonstrate a focus on preventing people needing further health 
interventions and community engagement. Final confirmation is required to 
understand the details of this grant and its terms, but it is likely some match 
funding will be required for projects. 

 
 

Priority Opportunities 
 
28. Cost-of-living crisis response strategy – Develop a strategy to build on this 

report that would detail the Council’s approach to the cost-of-living crisis. An 
overarching strategy would help the Council to deliver a considered and budgeted 
range of holistic support. It would align to other strategies and policies such as 
equalities, health and wellbeing, and climate change, and link with projects such 
as housing initiatives with our own tenants, Community Led Planning (CLP), and 
Homes for Ukraine. The approach taken would be in collaboration with Parishes, 
Voluntary and Community Sector (VCS) groups, Cambridgeshire County 
Council’s Think Communities Team, and the ICS to create self-sustaining, place-
based solutions. 

 
29. Roadshow of cost-of-living talks – Existing community groups/events/meetings 

that take place in a community (or set up for this purpose if necessary) to raise 
the issue of the impacts of cost of living on the most vulnerable and highlight a 
range of support available. This would improve reach and uptake of grants and 
other support services. These would be organised in partnership with Parish 
Councils. 

 
Recommendation: £1,000 to be allocated for this project. This covers room hire and 
materials cost for 10 talks in targeted areas. 
 
30. Evolution of Warm Hubs into Community Wellbeing Hubs – Cambridgeshire 

Acre were appointed to provide warm community spaces in South 
Cambridgeshire and were provided with funding to last through to 31 March 2023. 
Learning from the extensive community engagement throughout this process, 
‘Warm Hubs’ would evolve into Community Wellbeing Hubs, offering more 
services. These places could provide free, cheap, or ‘pay as you feel’ food and 
hot drinks, social interaction, access to affordable food, a warm space, connection 
to statutory services such as Job Centre, Housing Advice and voluntary groups 
such as Citizens Advice, energy and debt advice, and anything else the 
community wanted or needed. This project could be developed within Community 
Led Plan and be placed-based, reflecting the needs of the particular village or 
town. 

Page 77



 

 
Recommendation: £25,000 to be allocated for a minimum of 5 Community Hubs 
across the district. Further funding will be bid for to increase this offering, subject to 
the terms of the ICS bidding process. 
 
31. Council Tax Support Campaign - Run a larger communications campaign to 

increase uptake of the Council Tax reduction scheme. The campaign would use a 
range of communication channels but would include letters to areas with higher 
deprivation informing people of their potential eligibility. Data resulting from this 
scheme may also help the Council target future/additional support. This has been 
evident through the electric blanket/slow cookers scheme. 

 
Recommendation: £10,000 allocated for a targeted letter campaign. 
 
32. Extend the provision of electric blankets and/or slow cookers – Expand this 

scheme to provide energy saving appliances to residents just about managing. 
The feedback from this scheme has so far been very positive. We would also 
seek to target residents in receipt of care from the District Nursing Teams, again 
working in close collaboration with our partners in health. Planning a targeted 
approach will begin over the summer period to launch in November 2023.  

 
Recommendation: £30,000 to support approximately 500 people. 
 
33. South Cambridgeshire Sustainable Food Network - A sustainable food 

network would link together all foodbanks in the district to learn from one another 
and distribute food that would otherwise be going to waste; create links with local 
farmers to donate excess food that is not suitable for supermarkets; encourage 
communities to grow fresh vegetables for those most vulnerable; and promote 
healthy eating and more plant-based diets. This combats both the cost-of-living 
crisis and the climate crisis by creating a sustainable network, initially led by an 
officer at the Council, who would then mentor one of the volunteers to take over 
with external funding (funding currently available) once in operation. 
 
At the Climate and Environment Advisory Committee’s request, a report is being 
prepared by the Climate and Environment team for their meeting on 4 April setting 
out options for a South Cambridgeshire Sustainable Food Strategy. A sustainable 
food network would be an integral part of this. 
 
This would include, though not be limited to, setting up new foodbanks, creating 
community vegetable gardens, facilitating a better relationship between 
supermarkets and foodbanks to donate excess food, and delivering food parcels 
to those in need. Funding would be provided to set up new foodbanks in target 
areas where gaps exist which should become self-sufficient after expiration of 
initial funding as work would be done to set up regular donations from the 
community and supermarkets. Community vegetable gardens would help create a 
more constant local supply of fresh seasonal vegetables to foodbanks in the 
district and encourage healthy eating and community cohesion. Food would be 

Page 78



 

distributed through the Sustainable Food Network, targeting food to those most 
vulnerable while also tackling food waste issues. 

 
Recommendation: £45,000 allocated to the project as a whole. Initial allocation of 
this funding is £15,000 to fund 5 new foodbanks, £10,000 to cover land agreement 
and running costs for community vegetable gardens, and £20,000 for the provision of 
food parcels, although the sub-allocations are subject to change as work continues. 
 
34. Data analysis to explore prevention methods - Many data sets are held within 

the Council and partner organisations that contain information on individuals and 
geographical areas at risk of, or already in, poverty. Officer resource would allow 
investigation of whether the Council’s data could be used to attempt to implement 
prevention methods. This project is envisaged to run through to March 2025. 

 
35. Officer resources – To deliver the projects set out in this report, a dedicated 

cost-of-living Project Officer at grade 4 is required beyond March 2023. Many of 
the projects outlined in this report will continue for a two-year period and thus 
require officer resource for that. 

 
Recommendation: £80,000 for one full time equivalent Project Officer at Grade 4 on 
a two-year fixed term contract. 

Options 

1. Recommended option – accept all the recommendations set out in paragraphs 
28 to 35 thereby continuing to support our commitment to helping residents 
through the ongoing cost-of-living crisis, initially approved by Cabinet in 
November 2022. 

2. Cabinet could choose not to progress with any of the recommended options 

set out in the report and either do nothing, or ask officers to carry out further 

work. 

3. Defer a decision until a later date, pending further information. 
4. Approve some of the recommended options set out in the report and provide 

officers with feedback on those to be prioritised. 

Implications 

 

36. In the writing of this report, taking into account financial, legal, staffing, risk, 
equality and diversity, climate change, and any other key issues, the following 
implications have been considered: - 

Financial 

37. Funding for the projects outlined above will be drawn from existing and available 
earmarked reserves. Each option has been costed and evaluated as part of the 

Page 79



 

package of ongoing support that the council provides to residents. If all options 
were agreed, this would cost a total of £206,000 and all funding would come from 
earmarked reserves. 

 
Financial summary of recommendations 
 

 Funded by 
SCDC 
reserves (£) 

Roadshow of cost-of-living talks 1,000 

Evolution of Warm Hubs into Community Hubs 25,000 

Council Tax support campaign 10,000 

Extend the provision of electric blankets and/or slow cookers 30,000 

South Cambridgeshire Sustainable Food Network 45,000 

Officer resources (2 years)  80,000 

Contingency 15,000 

Total 206,000 

 

Staffing 

38. Creation of a new full time equivalent 2-year fixed term post at Grade 4 will be 
necessary to deliver the full range of projects outlined. 

Risks/Opportunities 

39. The recommendations in this report have the opportunity to ease the effects of 
the cost-of-living crisis to those most vulnerable in South Cambridgeshire. Were 
the Council not to continue its support to residents it is likely that more people will 
need to access other services offered by the Council and public sector partners. 

Equality and Diversity 

40. An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) was undertaken in November 2022 
regarding cost-of-living support. As the recommendations in this report are a 
continuation of this work, it will rely upon the same EqIA. The EqIA has identified 
that the proposals have the potential to impact positively on several different 
protected characteristic groups, especially those who we know to be most 
vulnerable to the cost-of-living crisis, such as older people and young children, 
and disabled people.  

Page 80



 

Climate Change 

41. The recommendations to set up a South Cambridgeshire Sustainable Food 
Network and to extend the provision of electric blankets and/or slow cookers align 
closely with the council’s Zero Carbon Strategy, action plan and net zero targets.  
Electric blankets and slow cookers are likely to result in lower electricity use and 
associated greenhouse gas emissions.  Food is a significant contributor to 
greenhouse gas emissions and a sustainable food network would be an important 
part of a strategy to reduce these. 

Health & Wellbeing 

42. The health impacts associated with financial hardship, debt, poor nutrition, and 
cold, damp homes are manifold. This project aims to deliver numerous positive 
health impacts by using a mix of universal and targeted approaches which will be 
localised and nuanced based on the needs of the neighbourhood.   

 

Consultation 
 

43. Community engagement with volunteers, residents, and services across South 
Cambridgeshire, which will be shared in full once the initial funding is complete. 
Ongoing and continued consultation with Think Communities, the ICS, Voluntary 
Sector and Council officers. 

Alignment with Council Priority Areas 

44. Growing local businesses and economies 

This proposal involves working closely to deliver projects via the voluntary sector 
through the provision of grants. This creates positive impacts by supporting local not-
for-profit organisations to develop their business models, provide employment for 
local people and build social value through the creation of increased volunteering 
roles across the District. 
 

45. Housing that is truly affordable for everyone to live in 
 

This project will link services such as Local Energy Advice Partnership and other 
debt and energy advice organisations to residents in need of housing and financial 
support. Leading to residents gaining access to fuel grants and home improvements 
which could lead to energy efficiency savings. 

Page 81



 

46. Being green to our core 

The project plans to create a sustainable food network, bringing together foodbanks, 
allotment growing groups and supermarket chains to reduce food waste, and reduce 
food miles by offering locally grown, unwanted items to local people. 

47. A modern and caring Council 

This project aims to help support those people already suffering financial hardship 
and help prevent those just about managing from falling into debt by offering a range 
of practical and financial help. The breadth and depth of the project addresses the 
wider determinants as it aims to address matters relating to housing, income, jobs, 
social and community cohesion and access to health services. 
 
 

Report Authors:  

Lesley McFarlane – Development Officer – Health Specialist 
Telephone: (01954) 713443 
 
Chris Riches – Project Officer, Communities 
Telephone: (01954) 713036 
 
 

 

Page 82



Updated: 9 February 2023 

Scrutiny and Overview Committee Work Programme 2022-23 

 

Meeting date 

 

Potential Agenda item (subject to prioritisation by 

Chair and Vice Chair) 

 
Pre-Scrutiny 

 

Scrutiny review by 

Committee 

Task and Finish Groups 

28 March 2023 
 

 Annual Equality Scheme 
Update and Progress 
Report 
 

 Ukraine update 
 

- 

25 April 2023 
 

 New Collection Rounds 
(might be T&F Group) 
 

- - 

11 May 2023 
 

 - - 

June 2023 
 

 Quarter 4 Performance 
report 

 Planning engagement with 
Town and Parish Councils 
(provisional) 

 

 Final report with 
recommendations from 
the Young People T&F 
Group 

July 2023 
 

-  Stakeholder engagement 
 

-  

September 2023 
 

-  - 

P
age 83

A
genda Item

 9



Updated: 9 February 2023 

October 2023 
 

 Community Facilities at 
Northstowe (at the 
earliest) 

 

- - 

November 2023 
 

-  Update – the future use of 
South Cambs. Hall 
 

- 

Unscheduled 
 

-  Civil Parking Enforcement 
 

- 

 

 

P
age 84



 
 
  
Notice of Key and Non-Key Decisions 
 
To be taken under the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 
(England) Regulations 2012 from 1 February 2023 
 
 
Notice is hereby given of: 
 

 Key and Non-Key decisions that will be taken by Cabinet, individual Lead Cabinet Members or Officers 

 Confidential or exempt executive decisions that will be taken in a meeting from which the public will be excluded (for whole or part) 
 
A Key Decision is a decision by the Cabinet, or an individual Cabinet Member or officer, which is likely to either incur significant* expenditure or make 
significant savings, or to have a significant impact on those living or working in 2 or more wards. 
 
*A decision to: 

1. Incur expenditure or savings in excess of £200,000; or 
2. Acquire or dispose of land or property with a value in excess of £1,000,000 shall be treated as significant for these purposes. However, a decision 

to invite a tender or award a contract shall not be treated as a key decision where the purpose of the contract is to fulfil the intention of any policy 
or scheme included in the policy framework or budget or involves a continuation of an existing policy or service standard. 

 
A notice / agenda, together with reports and supporting documents for each meeting will be published at least five working days before the date of the 
meeting.  In order to enquire about the availability of documents and subject to any restriction on their disclosure, copies may be requested from 
Democratic Services, South Cambridgeshire District Council, South Cambridgeshire Hall, Cambourne Business Park, Cambourne, Cambridge, CB23 
6EA. Agenda and documents may be accessed electronically at www.scambs.gov.uk 
 
Formal notice is hereby given under the above Regulations that, where indicated (in column 4), part of the meetings listed in this notice may be held in 
private because the agenda and reports for the meeting will contain confidential or exempt information under Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 (as amended) and that the public interest in withholding the information outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing it. See overleaf for the relevant paragraphs. 
 
Where two meetings (for example, Cabinet and Council) are listed for a particular item, the first will be making a recommendation to the second, which will 
then make a final decision. 

 
If you have any queries relating to this Notice, please contact 

Ian Senior on 01954 713028  or by e-mailing ian.senior@scambs.gov.uk 
 
 
 

 

P
age 85

http://www.scambs.gov.uk/
mailto:ian.senior@scambs.gov.uk


 
 
Paragraphs of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 (as amended) 
(Reason for a report to be considered in private) 
 

1. Information relating to any individual 
2. Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual 
3. Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that information) 
4. Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated consultations or negotiations, in connection with any labour relations 

matter arising between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or office holders under, the authority 
5. Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be maintained in legal proceedings 
6. Information which reveals that the authority proposes: 

(a) to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which requirements are imposed on a person; or 
(b) to make an Order or Direction under any enactment 

7. Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime 
 
 
 
The Decision Makers referred to in this document are as follows: 
 
Cabinet  
 
Councillor Bridget Smith 
Councillor Brian Milnes 
Councillor Henry Batchelor 
Councillor John Batchelor 
Councillor Bill Handley 
Councillor Tumi Hawkins 
Councillor Peter McDonald 
Councillor Brian Milnes 
Councillor John Williams 

Leader of the Council 
Deputy Leader 
Environment 
Housing 
Communities 
Planning  
Economic Development 
Environment 
Resources 

 

P
age 86



 
 
Key and non-key decisions expected to be made from 1 March 2023 

Decision to be 
made 

Description of 
Decision 

Decision Maker Date of Meeting Reason for Report 
being considered 
in Private 

 

Lead Cabinet 
Members  and 
Contact Officer 

Documents 
submitted to the 
decision maker 

 

 
Business Rates 
Discretionary Relief 
Policy 
 
Key 
 

 
Update to the 
Council’s 
Discretionary Rate 
Relief Policy in line 
with Government 
direction. 

 
Lead Cabinet 
member for 
Resources 
 

 
Not before 04 
November 2022 
 

 
 
 

 
Lead Cabinet 
member for 
Resources 
 
Katie Kelly, 
Revenues Manager 
 

 
 
 

 
Greater Cambridge 
Joint Local Plan 
 
Key 
 

 
To confirm 
preferred strategy 

 
Cabinet 
 

 
06 February 2023 
 

 
 
 

 
Lead Cabinet 
member for 
Planning 
 
Jonathan Dixon, 
Planning Policy 
Manager, Caroline 
Hunt, Strategy and 
Economy Manager 
 

 
Report publication 
expected on 27 
January 2023 
 

 
Responses to 
Water Resources 
East Regional 
Water Plan 
 
Non-Key 
 

 
To agree the 
Council’s responses 
to Water Resources 
East’s Regional 
Water Plan. 

 
Cabinet 
 

 
06 February 2023 
 

 
 
 

 
Lead Cabinet 
member for 
Planning 
 
Jonathan Dixon, 
Planning Policy 
Manager 
 

 
Report publication 
expected on 27 
January 2023 
 

 
Update to New 
Build Council 
Housing Strategy 

 
Update to the 
Council’s New Build 
Council Housing 

 
Cabinet 
 
Council 

 
06 February 2023 
 
21 February 2023 

 
 
 

 
Lead Cabinet 
member for 
Housing 

 
Cabinet report 
publication 
expected on 27 

P
age 87



Key and non-key decisions expected to be made from 1 March 2023 
 Decision to be 
made 

Description of 
Decision 

Decision Maker Date of Meeting Reason for Report 
to be considered 
in Private 

 

Lead Cabinet 
Members  and 
Contact Officer 

Documents 
submitted to the 
decision maker 

 

 
 
 

Strategy to reflect 
reviewed targets and 
economic position 

   
 
 
Kirstin Donaldson, 
Service Manager - 
Acquisitions and 
Development 
 

January 2023 
Council report 
publication 
expected on 13 
February 2023 
 

 
Medium Term 
Financial Strategy 
 
 
 

 
Review and ensure 
that Council is aware 
of the financial 
challenges over the 
medium-term. 

 
Cabinet 
 
Council 
 

 
06 February 2023 
 
21 February 2023 
 

 
 
 

 
Lead Cabinet 
member for 
Resources 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Report publication 
expected on 27 
January 2023 
 

 
General Fund 
Budget 2023/24 
 
 
 

 
Consider the General 
Fund Revenue 
Budget for 2023-24 

 
Cabinet 
 
Council 
 

 
06 February 2023 
 
21 February 2023 
 

 
 
 

 
Lead Cabinet 
member for 
Resources 
 
Lead Cabinet 
member for 
Resources 
 
 
 

 
Report publication 
expected on 27 
January 2023 
 

 
Housing Revenue 
Account Budget 
2023/24 
 
 

 
Consider the Housing 
Revenue Account 
Budget for 2023-24 

 
Cabinet 
 
Council 
 

 
06 February 2023 
 
21 February 2023 
 

 
 
 

 
Lead Cabinet 
member for 
Resources 
 
 

 
Report publication 
expected on 27 
January 2023 
 

P
age 88



Key and non-key decisions expected to be made from 1 March 2023 
 Decision to be 
made 

Description of 
Decision 

Decision Maker Date of Meeting Reason for Report 
to be considered 
in Private 

 

Lead Cabinet 
Members  and 
Contact Officer 

Documents 
submitted to the 
decision maker 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
Capital Investments 
Programme 
2023/24 - 2027/28 
 
 
 

 
Consider the 
Council’s Capital 
Programme 

 
Cabinet 
 
Council 
 

 
06 February 2023 
 
21 February 2023 
 

 
 
 

 
Lead Cabinet 
member for 
Resources 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Report publication 
expected on 27 
January 2023 
 

 
Treasury 
Management 
Strategy 
 
 
 

 
Consider a refreshed 
version of the 
Strategy for adoption 
by the Council. 

 
Cabinet 
 
Council 
 

 
06 February 2023 
 
21 February 2023 
 

 
 
 

 
Lead Cabinet 
member for 
Resources 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Report publication 
expected on 27 
January 2023 
 

 
Capital Strategy 
 
 
 

 
Consider a refreshed 
version of the 
Strategy for adoption 
by the Council. 

 
Cabinet 
 
Council 
 

 
06 February 2023 
 
21 February 2023 
 

 
 
 

 
Lead Cabinet 
member for 
Resources 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Report publication 
expected on 27 
January 2023 
 

 
Review of Revenue 
Reserves and 
Provisions 

 
Review the Council’s 
Revenue Reserves 
and Provisions as 

 
Cabinet 
 
Council 

 
06 February 2023 
 
21 February 2023 

 
 
 

 
Lead Cabinet 
member for 
Resources 

 
Report publication 
expected on 27 
January 2023 

P
age 89



Key and non-key decisions expected to be made from 1 March 2023 
 Decision to be 
made 

Description of 
Decision 

Decision Maker Date of Meeting Reason for Report 
to be considered 
in Private 

 

Lead Cabinet 
Members  and 
Contact Officer 

Documents 
submitted to the 
decision maker 

 

 
 
 

part of the 2022/2023 
budget setting 
process. 

   
 
 
 
 

 

 
2020-25 Business 
Plan 
 
 
 

 
Approval of the 2023-
24 iteration of the 
2020-25 Business 
Plan 

 
Cabinet 
 
Council 
 

 
06 February 2023 
 
21 February 2023 
 

 
 
 

 
Leader of Council 
 
 
 
Kevin Ledger, 
Senior Policy and 
Performance 
Officer, Liz Watts, 
Chief Executive 
 

 
Report publication 
expected on 27 
January 2023 
 

 
Pay Policy 
Statement 
 
Non-Key 
 

 
 

 
Council 
 

 
21 February 2023 
 

 
 
 

 
Lead Cabinet 
member for 
Resources 
 
Jeff Membery, 
Head of 
Transformation, HR 
and Corporate 
Services 
 

 
Report publication 
expected on 13 
February 2023 
 

 
South Cambs 
Limited t/a Ermine 
Street Housing 
Business Plan 
Update2022/23 - 
2031/32 

 
That Cabinet accepts 
the latest iteration of 
the Business Plan. 

 
Cabinet 
 
Council 
 

 
20 March 2023 
 
30 March 2023 
 

 
Report is open but 
the Business Plan 
is exempt as it 
contains 
commercially 
sensitive 

 
Lead Cabinet 
member for 
Housing 
 
 
 

 
Report publication 
expected on 10 
March 2023 
 

P
age 90



Key and non-key decisions expected to be made from 1 March 2023 
 Decision to be 
made 

Description of 
Decision 

Decision Maker Date of Meeting Reason for Report 
to be considered 
in Private 

 

Lead Cabinet 
Members  and 
Contact Officer 

Documents 
submitted to the 
decision maker 

 

 
 
 

information 
 

Duncan Vessey, 
Head of Ermine 
Street Housing 
 

 
Investment Strategy 
 
Non-Key 
 

 
Annual review of the 
strategy to be 
adopted by the 
Council. 

 
Cabinet 
 
Council 
 

 
20 March 2023 
 
30 March 2023 
 

 
 
 

 
Lead Cabinet 
member for 
Resources 
 
 
 
Anne Ainsworth, 
Chief Operating 
Officer 
 

 
Report publication 
expected on 10 
March 2023 
 

 
2022/2023 
Revenue and 
Capital Budget 
Monitoring (Quarter 
3) 
 
Non-Key 
 

 
Consider the 
monitoring data and 
trends in respect of 
the 2022/23 budgets 
and issues. 

 
Cabinet 
 

 
20 March 2023 
 

 
 
 

 
Lead Cabinet 
member for 
Resources 
 
 
 

 
Report publication 
expected on 10 
March 2023 
 

 
Annual Equality 
Scheme Update 
and Progress 
Report 
 
Key 
 

 
 

 
Cabinet 
 

 
20 March 2023 
 

 
 
 

 
Lead Cabinet 
member for 
Resources 
 
Kevin Ledger, 
Senior Policy and 
Performance Officer 
 

 
Report publication 
expected on 10 
March 2023 
 

       

P
age 91



Key and non-key decisions expected to be made from 1 March 2023 
 Decision to be 
made 

Description of 
Decision 

Decision Maker Date of Meeting Reason for Report 
to be considered 
in Private 

 

Lead Cabinet 
Members  and 
Contact Officer 

Documents 
submitted to the 
decision maker 

 

Quarter 3 
Performance report 
 
Non-Key 
 

Review Key 
Performance Indicator 
results and comments 
recommending any 
actions required to 
address issues 
identified. 

Cabinet 
 

20 March 2023 
 

 
 

Deputy Leader 
 
Kevin Ledger, 
Senior Policy and 
Performance Officer 
 

Report publication 
expected on 10 
March 2023 
 

 
Rural Shared 
Prosperity Fund 
 
Non-Key 
 

 
Review, approve or 
amend the policy, 
application criteria 
and determination 
process for the Rural 
Shared Prosperity 
grant scheme 

 
Cabinet 
 

 
20 March 2023 
 

 
 
 

 
Lead Cabinet 
Member for 
Economic 
Development 
 
Katherine 
Southwood, 
Business Support 
Projects Team 
Leader 
 

 
Report publication 
expected on 10 
March 2023 
 

 
Compliance Policy 
 
Key 
 

 
To consider the 
policy 

 
Cabinet 
 

 
20 March 2023 
 

 
 
 

 
Lead Cabinet 
member for 
Planning 
 
Heather Jones, 
Strategic Lead 3C 
Building Standards 
 

 
Report publication 
expected 10 March 
2023 
 

 
Cost of living - 
options to continue 
support 
 
Key 
 

 

To consider options 

for continuing 

support for those 

experiencing 

hardship because of 

 
Cabinet 
 

 
20 March 2023 
 

 
 
 

 
Lead Cabinet 
Member for 
Communities 
 
Gareth Bell, 
Communications 

 
Report publication 
expected on 10 
March 2023 
 

P
age 92



Key and non-key decisions expected to be made from 1 March 2023 
 Decision to be 
made 

Description of 
Decision 

Decision Maker Date of Meeting Reason for Report 
to be considered 
in Private 

 

Lead Cabinet 
Members  and 
Contact Officer 

Documents 
submitted to the 
decision maker 

 

rising costs and 

inflation.  

and Communities 
Service Manager 
 

 
Response to 
Cambridge Water's 
Water Resources 
Management Plan 
 
Non-Key 
 

 
To agree the 
Council’s response 
to Cambridge 
Water’s Water 
Resources 
Management Plan 

 
Cabinet 
 

 
Not before 20 
March 2023 
 

 
 
 

 
Lead Cabinet 
member for 
Planning 
 
Jonathan Dixon, 
Planning Policy 
Manager 
 

 
Report publication 
expected on 10 
March 2023 
 

 
Making of Fulbourn 
Neighbourhood 
Plan 
 
 
 

 
Full Council will need 
to formally adopt the 
neighbourhood plan if 
it has a successful 
referendum. 
Referendum date not 
set yet 

 
Council 
 

 
30 March 2023 
 

 
 
 

 
Lead Cabinet 
member for 
Planning 
 
Jenny Nuttycombe, 
Principal Planning 
Policy Officer 
 

 
Report publication 
expected on 22 
March 2023 
 

 
2021/22 Provisional 
Housing Revenue 
Account (HRA) 
Outturn 
 
 
 

 
Reports the HRA 
Revenue and Capital 
outturn position for 
the financial year 
2021/22 

 
Council 
 

 
Not before 30 
March 2023 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Report publication 
expected five clear 
working days before 
the meeting 
 

 
New Collection 
Rounds 
 
Non-Key 

 
Outputs of periodic 
(3 – 5 yr) review of 
collection rounds to 
optimise operations 

 
Cabinet 
 

 
15 May 2023 
 

 
 
 

 
Lead Cabinet 
member for 
Environment 
 

 
Report publication 
expected on 4 May 
2023) 
 

P
age 93



Key and non-key decisions expected to be made from 1 March 2023 
 Decision to be 
made 

Description of 
Decision 

Decision Maker Date of Meeting Reason for Report 
to be considered 
in Private 

 

Lead Cabinet 
Members  and 
Contact Officer 

Documents 
submitted to the 
decision maker 

 

 and re-balance 
rounds taking into 
account growth, 
new practices, 
vehicles, etc 

Michael Parsons, 
Waste Operations 
Manager, Alex 
Snelling-Day, 
Policy, Climate and 
Environment Team 
Manager, Bode 
Esan, Head of 
Climate, 
Environment & 
Waste 
 

 
 

      

 
 

P
age 94



Scrutiny Work Programme Prioritisation Tool 

 

   

 

YES 

  

 

YES 

    

 

 

YES 

 

 

 

YES 

 

 

 

 NO 

 

 

YES 

 

 

 

YES 

 

  

 YES  

 

Does the issue have a potential 

impact on one or more electoral 

wards in South Cambs? 

Is the issue strategic and 

significant? 

Will scrutiny of the issue add 

value to the Council’s overall 

performance? 

Is it likely to lead to effective 

outcomes? 

Will this scrutiny activity duplicate 

any other work? 

Is the issue of community 

concern? 

Are there adequate resources 

available to support scrutiny 

activity on the issue? 

Is the scrutiny activity timely? 

 

HIGH PRIORITY  

Include in Work Programme 

 

Low Priority 

Consider including in 

Work Programme 

 

 

Leave Out 

NO 

NO 

NO 

NO 

YES 

NO 

NO 

NO 

Page 95



This page is left blank intentionally.


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of Previous Meetings
	Minutes , 12/01/2023 Scrutiny and Overview Committee
	Minutes , 19/01/2023 Scrutiny and Overview Committee

	6 Investment Strategy
	Appendix A - Investment Strategy – Revised March 2023

	7 2022-23 Quarter Three Performance Report
	Appendix A - KPI Report (Scrutiny) - Copy
	Finance
	GCPS
	Housing
	HR and COR
	Shared Waste & Environ.
	Transformation


	8 Further support for cost-of-living crisis for South Cambridgeshire residents
	Appendix A - Draft Cabinet Further support for cost-of-living crisis for South Cambridgeshire residents

	9 Work Programme
	Corporate Forward Plan
	Scrutiny prioritisation tool




